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With the primary purpose of producing and selling gold and silver doré bars, as well as 
copper cathode and copper, lead-silver, and zinc concentrates.

We currently have eight mining units in Mexico – el Coronel, San Felipe, María, San 
Francisco del oro, tayahua, asientos, porvenir and the recently acquired ocampo – and 
are in the process of developing new projects and expansions, in addition to a number of 
other exploration projects.

We use proprietary resources to investigate the most modern techniques for locating 
and processing minerals and implement environmental management initiatives aimed at 
minimizing waste generation, water and electricity consumption and at offsetting adverse 
environmental impacts. We also engage in social activities in an effort to improve the 
community environment and provide training and education

MInera FrISCo IS a CoMpany WIth a lonG 
hIStory dedICated to the exploratIon 
and exploItatIon oF MInInG ClaIMS.

2011
In January, Minera 
Frisco S.a.B. de C.V. 
begins trading its 
shares on the Mexican 
Stock exchange.

2012
We made significant 
progress on the projects, 
including completion of 
construction on some 
units. the ocampo mine 
acquisition and the 
Venus and los Jarros 
projects were finalized 
in december.

2008 
the asientos unit 
begins operations in 
aguascalientes, and the 
el Coronel unit, which 
produces gold and 
silver doré bars, begins 
operating in Zacatecas.

2010
Beginning in the second 
half, Frisco launches 
a program of heavy 
investments in six 
projects focused on 
expansion projects as 
well as new plants and 
facilities.
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1962
as a result of the new 
Mining law, foreign and 
Mexican firms partner 
to create Minera Frisco, 
S.a.

1658 – 1961
Mining begins in 
Chihuahua during the 
second half of the 17th 
Century. Francisco de 
Molina discovered some 
of the mineral deposits.

1972
Minera lampazos 
begins operations, 
focusing on silver ores 
(closed in 1987).

1978
Minera Cumobabi, 
S.a. de C.V. begins 
operations, focusing 
on copper and 
molybdenum ores 
(closed in 1989).

1980
Minera Maria launches 
operations in the city 
of Cananea, Sonora, 
focusing on copper ores 
(closed en 1981).

• Broad operatIonal BaSe Supported 
By the ConCluSIon oF expanSIon 
proJeCtS and neW unItS

• SIGnIFICant proJeCtS portFolIo
• one oF the FaSteSt GroWInG MInInG 

CoMpanIeS Currently operatInG

Mission
To work in a harmonious way with all stakeholders, promoting a culture of innovation 
and practices of technological and environmental efficiency that allow us to grow toward 
common objectives.

Vision
To be a strong mining company in the global arena of the extraction of precious and base
metals with processes that have minimal risks to guarantee the rate of return to shareholders 
and favor the development of sustainable communities.

noMinal insTalled Milling/crushing capaciTy (Tonnes/day)

2012 82,700

2013 175,700

2014 194,300

1985
empresas Frisco, S.a. 
de C.V. is constituted 
and acquired by Grupo 
Carso.

1994 
Compañía San Felipe 
begins operations in 
Baja California (closed 
in 2001).

1998
Minera tayahua is 
acquired (51% located 
in Mazapil, Zacatecas).

2001
the “reserva San 
Francisco del oro” 
Wildlife Conservation 
Management unit is 
created.

2004
Minera María begins 
its second phase of 
operations, exploiting 
copper ores for cathode 
production.

• More than 6,800 eMployeeS 
• Market CapItalIZatIon oF uS$ 11 BIllIon
• FoCuS on Gold and SIlVer, expeCtS to 

More than douBle produCtIon oF dorÉ 
BarS In 2013

   principles
• honesty and intellectual integrity
• Meeting expectations and executing Business plans
• industrial Mining company
• Quality with low cost and operational efficiency
• Workplace safety, environmental compliance, and community integration

producTion BreakdoWn By MeTal

Gold Silver Copper lead Zinc

40%

32%

20%

6%

2014
eXpecTed

2%

2012
acTual

39%

18%

21%

6%

16%
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2012 2011 % Change

Sales           9,025           8,545 6%

Operating income           2,642           3,398 -22%

Operating margin 29% 40% -

EBiTdA     3,657     4,130 -11%

EBiTdA margin 41% 48% -

Controlling interest net income            884            571 55%

Total assets  39,020         25,472 53%

Total liabilities         25,315 12,178 108%

Shareholders’ equity 13,706 13,294 3%

CAPEx 10,535     8,065 31%

Total debt 22,011     8,350 164%

net debt 20,632     3,489 491%

Shares outstanding (thousands)    2,545,383    2,545,383 -

Earnings per share (pesos)         0.35        0.22 59%

year-end share price (pesos)          54.44          50.71 7%

* Except where otherwise indicated
  EBiTdA: Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization.

MinErA FriSCO
(Millions of pesos*)

El Coronel Unit

Financial and
OperatiOnal data 

SAlES 2012 9,025 Million Pesos
2011 8,545 Million Pesos

OPErATing 
inCOME

2012 2,642 Million Pesos
2011 3,398 Million Pesos

EBiTdA
2012 3,657 Million Pesos
2011 4,130 Million Pesos

2012 884 Million Pesos
2011 571 Million Pesos

2012 10,535 Million Pesos
2011   8,065 Million Pesos

COnTrOlling 
inTErEST nET 
inCOME

CAPEx
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name location (State) Metals Exploitation Type

11  Calcosita Zacatecas Cu Open-pit

12  Vetas negras Zacatecas Au / Ag Open-pit

13  Cimsa / Cumobabi Sonora Cu Open-pit

14  lampazos Sonora Au / Pb Open-pit and underground

2

6

9
7

13

11

14

1

3 8

10

PrOJECTS UndEr FEASiBiliTy STUdy And 
iMPlEMEnTATiOn

5

12

name location (State) Metals Exploitation Type

9   Concheño Chihuahua Au / Ag Open-pit

10 San Francisco del Oro Open-pit Chihuahua Au / Ag Open-pit

nEW UniTS

name location (State) Metals Exploitation Type

1  El Coronel Zacatecas Au / Ag Open-pit

2  San Felipe Baja Califórnia norte Au / Ag Open-pit

3  Asientos Aguascalientes Au / Ag / Cu / Pb / Zn Underground

4  Tayahua Zacatecas Au / Ag / Cu / Pb / Zn Underground

5  San Francisco del Oro Chihuahua Au / Ag / Cu / Pb / Zn Underground

6  María Sonora Cu Open-pit

7  Ocampo Chihuahua Au / Ag Open-pit and underground

8  Porvenir Aguascalientes Au / Ag Open-pit

OPErATing UniTS

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

Map OF OperatiOns

4
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repOrt tO the sharehOlders

Economic Context
The same structural and financial conditions 
that characterized the global economy in the 
past few years remained in force in 2012. Most 
significantly, the macroeconomic variables of 
developed nations continue to be problematic, 
which has an impact on global economic 
growth. On the other hand, developing 
countries, most of which have healthy fiscal and 
financial systems, have benefited from global 
monetary policies, since low interest rates and 
the easy availability of resources encourage the 
development of productive projects, make the 
economy more dynamic, and create jobs.

The United States has maintained a short-term 
monetary policy of negative interest in real 
terms in an effort to reactivate investment in 
production to accelerate economic activity 
and to make the payment of interest on its 
enormous government debt less onerous, even 
as it seeks to make mortgage payments more 
affordable for families. however, the problem 
of the high fiscal deficit remains, which forces 
the U.S. to continue to raise its debt ceiling by 
having agreed to a fiscal consolidation plan 
that allows it to meet its immediate spending 
commitments and reduce over the medium 
term the high deficit, which began to worsen 
in 2008, and lower the overall debt level, which 
in 2012 exceeded 100% of the country’s gdP.

For its part, Europe is facing similar 
circumstances, but with strong restrictions on 
spending, an overvalued currency, and high 
unemployment rates in many countries in 
the region. growth is practically flat or even 
negative in some countries, and short- and 
medium-term prospects are not promising.

Mexico’s economic variables remain strong. 
Since its low rates are higher than those of 
the developed countries, it is attracting a lot 
of foreign portfolio investment, a flow that in 
2012 exceeded US$ 80 million, double that 
of the previous year. Although this reflects the 
confidence of investors in our country, this 
situation creates vulnerability since its duration 
is uncertain and because of the revaluation of 
the peso, which leads to higher imports and 
lower exports. With regard to foreign direct 
investment, the country has become a primary 

destination for manufacturing, especially for 
the automotive industry, due to competitive 
advantages in terms of cost attributable to 
production and proximity to the world’s biggest 
market. inflation, however, is unstable.

Mexico’s banking system is well capitalized and 
characterized by sound public finances, interest 
rates that encourage financing and investment, 
long-term money availability internal and 
external savings, a young population, natural 
resources, and potential in terms of tourism, 
agriculture, energy, infrastructure, and 
mining, among other factors that encourage 
development. Therefore, despite an unfavorable 
global environment, our country has the 
opportunity to accelerate its expansion, adding 
millions of people to productive operations, 
creating wellbeing and consumption capacity, 
which are the only sustainable drivers of 
permanent growth.

The Metals Market
2012 was characterized by volatilities at 
various different levels for each of the metals 
we produce.

With respect to gold, beginning in March its 
price registered consecutive declines until 
September, when it began to improve on a 
consistently, reaching a high of US$1,792 per 
ounce in October. Macroeconomic uncertainties 
and policies in certain regions and, in particular, 
questions regarding U.S. monetary policy 
served to catalyze the recovery of the metal’s 
price. Central banks began to increase their 
gold reserves as an alternative to investments 
linked to the dollar or to the euro, a strategy that 
was implemented in a broader array of nations. 
likewise, there was strong demand for gold 
on the part of investors who saw it as a more 
secure option, as evidenced by the growing 
demand for exchange-traded funds (ETFs). 
Furthermore, physical demand for gold remains 
high, thanks to the constant need on the part of 
countries such as China and india. According to 
The gold institute, total demand for gold hit an 
all-time high of US$ 236 billion in 2012, while 
its average price was US $1,669 per ounce, a 
6% increase compared to 2011. 
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the El Coronel, San Felipe and the Porvenir sites 
had been complete, the latter produced its first 
doré gold bar this January.  The commissioning 
stage at the El Coronel and San Felipe unit is in 
its final phase. We also expect construction to 
be completed at Concheño and San Francisco 
del Oro units in the first half of this year. With 
these expansions the Company will attain new 
levels of precious metals production capacity 
that it expects will allow it to double its doré 
bars production in 2013.

The acquisition of the gold and silver mine 
known as Ocampo in december of 2012 and 
of the exploration projects located in the same 
zone of interest are consistent with Minera 
Frisco’s strategy of being a significant player in 
the precious metals market. These assets will 
strengthen the company’s doré bar production 
capacity and will also significantly complement 
certain development projects.

2012 was a transitional period in terms of 
operations due to the progress on the installation 
projects, which resulted in reduced output in 
2012 at some units. Operations at the San Felipe 
unit, for example, were temporarily suspended 
to allow for completion of the installation of a 
new crushing train and beneficiation plant. 
Even with lower consolidated production levels 
affecting most metals, sales increased by 
6% compared to 2011, due essentially to the 
improved realization price resulting from the 
lower negative impact of metals price hedging 
in the period. 

The company had adopted the strategy of metals 
price hedging in order to ensure a minimum 
return on installation projects. As the dates for 
resuming operations at the projects have gotten 
closer, the company has significantly reduced 
its hedge levels with respect to production, 
particularly its forwards and swaps positions, 
relying primarily on collar transactions.

The progress toward completion of projects, 
particularly the expansion projects, has 
created a greater need for personnel and 
materials for operations, among others, 
despite not being able to rely on production 
to dilute fixed costs. Furthermore, prices 
for most of the operational equipment and 
materials rose during the year, one of the 
challenges the sector currently faces. As a 
result, EBiTdA was down in 2012 compared 

The trajectory of the price of silver was the same 
as that of gold, but more extreme, reaching a 
low of US $ 26.67 per ounce and a high of US $ 
37.23 per ounce, while averaging US $ 31.15, 
11% lower than in 2011, when prices for the 
metal reached their highest historical levels (US 
$ 48.7/Oz). increasing interest in silver on the 
part of investors, also motivated by uncertainties 
with respect to U.S. monetary policy and the 
effects of inflation, partially offset decreased 
industry demand and lower demand for coins, 
affected by the low global economic growth. 
The Silver institute expects that industrial 
demand for silver will generally increase this 
year as economic activity in certain countries 
and industrial sectors recovers.

The price of silver followed a trend similar to 
that of gold, but more extreme, reaching a low 
of US $ 26.67 per ounce and a high of US $ 
37.23 per ounce, while averaging US $ 31.15, 
11% lower than in 2011, the year in which 
prices for the metal reached their highest 
historical levels (US $ 48.7/Oz). growing 
interest on the part of investors, also motivated 
by uncertainties with respect to U.S. monetary 
policy and the effects of inflation, partially 
offset the lower industrial demand and lower 
demand for coins, which were affected by the 
low global economic growth. Prices for copper, 
zinc, and lead, whose demand is strongly driven 
by industrial activity in emerging countries, 
suffered declines in 2012 relative to 2011. 
lead and zinc prices fell by 14% and 11%, 
respectively. On average, the price of copper 
was 10% lower, but it remains at historically 
high levels. Economic growth, mainly in China, 
continues to play an important role in the basic 
metals market on the global scale. 
 

Minera Frisco
2012 was a year of consolidation in terms of 
Minera Frisco’s aggressive growth strategy. The 
company is in the final stage of several projects 
that will allow it to significantly increase its 
production of gold and silver, positioning 
itself as an extremely important company in 
the sector.

2012 was a year marked by significant progress 
in terms of projects involving expansion and new 
units, which accounted for investments totaling 
$10,535 million pesos on the year. in late 2012, 
the construction of the expansion projects at Sincerely,

to 2011, totaling $4,130 million pesos with a 
margin of 41%. Controlling net income came 
to $884 million pesos in 2012, up 55% on 
2011, mainly due to a higher net exchange 
variation which mainly resulted from profit on 
an exchange forward position.

Total assets reached $39,020 million pesos, 
while equity corresponding to the parent 
company’s interest totaled $13,235 million 
pesos. 

With regard to operations at our mining units, 
we have dedicated ourselves to engaging 
in continuous metallurgic research and the 
constant optimization of our processes in order 
to realize gains in production costs, efficiency in 
metallurgic values recuperation, environmental 
sustainability processes, and, in general, 
improved economic viability of the projects.

With respect to exploration activities, in 2012 
we continued to increase economic resources 
allocated to these operations, particularly to 
exploration equipment and specialists in the 
area, in an effort to expand the reserve base 
and mineral resources which support the 
current operations of the operating units and 
the expansion plans. Furthermore, several 
mining claims are currently undergoing 
geological studies and exploration to ascertain 
their viability for future exploitation. 

We are aware that being a leading mining 
company at the global level implies a 
commitment to strengthening and developing 
the communities in which we operate, reducing 
as much as possible our operational risks and 
ensuring returns for our investors. We are 
thus committed to working harmoniously with 
all of our stakeholders, driven by a culture of 
innovation and technological and environmental 
efficiency practices. 

Frisco’s initiatives in the area of sustainability 
include operational plans for environmental 
control, sustainability of water and energy 
resources, environmental liability management, 
certification compliance, comprehensive 
management systems and stakeholder 
analysis, efforts which are always aligned with 
global best practices ant the law.

in 2012 we significantly increased our 
workforce, which had a positive impact on 
the communities in which we operate, since 
more than 80% of our workforce is locally 
hired. Moreover, since Frisco considers that 
community relations go hand in hand with 
its growth and sustainability, the company 
sponsors numerous activities and programs to 
promote the sustainable development of such 
communities and also uses the services of local 
providers, which helps to build trust and creates 
mutual benefits.

Minera Frisco has the financial solidity, 
operational experience, and implementation 
capacity to accomplish its 2013 and long-term 
objectives with the highest degree of quality at 
the lowest possible cost. The company is ready 
to reap the benefits of all of the effort dedicated 
to the completion of the projects that are 
making it a globally competitive mining firm.
in closing, we would like to thank all of 
our clients, shareholders, providers, and 
communities. We also extend a special thank 
you to our employees for their dedication and 
commitment. Minera Frisco will continue to 
work hard to stay on the path of growth and 
sustainable development it is forging.

José humberto
Gutiérrez-Olvera Zubizarreta
Chairman of the Board of directors

alejandro aboumrad González
Chief Executive Officer
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• 196 ThOUSAnd OUnCES OF gOld 
PrOdUCEd in 2012

PrOdUCTiOn And 
OrE grAdE

Milling / 
Crushing 
(tonnes)

gold Silver Copper lead Zinc

Au Oz EqOz gr/ton Oz gr/ton Tonnes % Tonnes % Tonnes %

El Coronel 12,129,349 168,242 0.45 19,466 2.08 - - - - - - 168,599

San Felipe 1,864,691 10,835 0.36 137,841 10.45 - - - - - - 13,432

Asientos 1,128,446 6,152 0.87 1,254,343 54.00 572 0.16 8,838 0.92 29,051 3.41 75,045

Tayahua 1,676,685 5,479 0.19 1,634,092 34.98 8,595 0.74 4,174 0.36 22,897 1.74 108,468

San Francisco del Oro 1,111,718 5,341 0.29 1,892,456 61.33 1,982 0.26 9,030 1.13 18,302 2.07 79,192

Maria* 8,298,489 - - - - 12,780 0.30 - - - - 60,466

Total 2012 26,209,378 196,049 - 4,938,198 - 23,929 - 22,042 - 70,250 - 505,202

Total 2011 26,700,797 235,069 - 5,309,314 - 21,395 - 22,416 - 82,135 - 554,000

Variation -2% -17% - -7% - 12% - -2% - -14% -  -9%

* This unit produces copper cathode.

• SigniFiCAnT inCrEASE in PrOdUCTiOn CAPACiTy

UniT

Milling / crushing nominal installed capacity (tonnes/day)

2012 Additional Total 2014

El Coronel 35,000 30,000 65,000

San Felipe1 7,500 22,500 22,500

Tayahua 5,200 18,600 23,800

Asientos 4,000 - 4,000

San Francisco del Oro 4,000 - 4,000

Maria 27,000 - 27,000

Ocampo2 - 13,000 13,000

Concheño - 15,000 15,000

Porvenir - 10,000 10,000

San Francisco del Oro Open-pit - 10,000 10,000

Total 2012 82,700 119,100 194,300

1. The previous capacity of 7,500 tonnes/day was taken offline with the addition of the new capacity.
2. Unit acquired in december of 2012.
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eXplOratiOn

To ensure its continued growth, Minera Frisco is 
committed to ongoing exploration of its mining 
concessions. The purpose of these studies is to 
increase the resources and reserves base, to 
support the operating mines and the expansion 
projects. Additionally, through these activities, 
we continue to evaluate new areas with the 
potential for exploitation, trying to focus on 
new gold and silver deposits, particularly those 
which can be extracted using the open pit 
method, in order to strength our growth. 

in 2012 we continued to conduct geological, 
geophysical, drilling and geological resource 
modeling projects at our operating units, 
project sites and prospects. during this period, 
1,070 holes totaling 54,020,673 meters were 
drilled. Exploration expenditures totaled $345 
million pesos, with 32% corresponding to units 
in operation, 51% to existing projects, and the 
remainder to new sites.

The company handles all of these prospecting 
efforts internally, and a portion of the exploration 
budget is used to hire and train personnel with 
expertise in this area. Moreover, Minera Frisco 
uses its own equipment, which includes 32 
diamond and 11 reverse circulation rigs, for its 
drilling operations.

in addition to its own personnel, the 
company works with the Carso research and 
development Center (Centro de investigación 
y desarrollo Carso, or CidEC), which assists it 
with chemical assays, mineral characterization, 
and metallurgical research studies (identifying 
metal recovery processes and chemical 
kinetics) provided by its laboratories in the 
cities of Queretaro and Zacatecas, where it 
employs 73 people in these efforts.

The company also works with a well-respected 
specialized firm for the purpose of certifying its 
reserves. 

Thanks to these constant efforts, we always 
have a portfolio full of projects in various 
phases of development, which allow us to 
continue growing.

COnSTAnT ExPlOrATiOn iS CrUCiAl TO MinErA 
FriSCO’S COnTinUEd grOWTh.
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location:  Exploitation type: Process:

ChihUAhUA UndErgrOUnd Milling And FlOTATiOn

installed nominal milling capacity: 

4,000 TPd

Start of operations:  Metals: Final product: 

17Th CEnTUry AU/Ag/CU/PB/Zn COnCEnTrATES

The San Francisco del Oro unit features a polymetallic underground mine. The mineral extracted from this site is 
milled at a plant that has a daily nominal capacity of 4,000 tonnes. it then undergoes a flotation process which 
culminates in the production of lead, zinc, and copper concentrates with gold, silver, lead, zinc and copper content. 
Minera Frisco derived its name from this unit. 

san FranciscO del OrO    OPErATing UniT 
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location:  Exploitation type: Process:

AgUASCAliEnTES UndErgrOUnd Milling And FlOTATiOn

installed nominal milling capacity: 

4,000 TPd

Start of operations:  Metals: Final product: 

2008 AU/Ag/CU/PB/Zn COnCEnTrATES

The mineral content extracted from the Asientos unit’s underground mine is milled at a plant with a daily nominal 
capacity of 4,000 tonnes. it then undergoes a flotation process that culminates in the production of lead, zinc, and 
copper concentrates containing gold, silver, lead, zinc and copper content.

asientOs    OPErATing UniT
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location:  Exploitation type: Process:

SOnOrA OPEn-PiT hEAP lEAChing

installed nominal milling capacity: 

27,000 TPd

Start of operations:  Metals: Final product: 

1980 CU COPPEr CAThOdE

Maria is an open-pit mine which extracts secondary copper ore. The site has a daily nominal crushing capacity 
of 27,000 tonnes. The crushed mineral content is deposited into leaching pads where it undergoes leaching and 
benefication processes to yield the final product of copper cathode.

María    OPErATing UniT
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location:  Exploitation type: Process:

ChihUAhUA
UndErgrOUnd And 
OPEn-PiT

dynAMiC lEAChing And hEAP lEAChing

installed nominal milling capacity: 

13,000 TPd

Start of operations:  Metals: Final product: 

2006 AU / Ag dOré BArS

The Ocampo unit, which was acquired in december of 2012, features a open-pit mine and two underground mines. 
The extraction processes used are heap and dynamic leaching.

The Ocampo acquisition is consistent with Minera Frisco’s strategy of being a significant company in the precious 
metals market. This unit will strengthen the company’s gold doré bar production and will also be a substantial 
complement to certain development projects.

OcaMpO    OPErATing UniT
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location:  Exploitation type: Process:

AgUASCAliEnTES OPEn-PiT hEAP lEAChing

installed nominal milling capacity: 

10,000 TPd

Start of operations:  Metals: Final product: 

JAnUAry OF 2013 AU / Ag dOré BArS

The Porvenir unit is a recently completed project that has already begun operations.  it is a open-pit mine whose 
extracted minerals undergo benefication by means of a heap leaching process. it completed its commissioning phase 
in late 2012, and its first gold doré bar was produced on January 5. 

el pOrvenir    OPErATing UniT
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location:  Exploitation type: Process:

ZACATECAS OPEn-PiT hEAP lEAChing

installed nominal milling capacity: new installed nominal crushing capacity Start of operations of additional capacity:

35,000 TPd 65,000 TPd MArCh 2013

Start of operations:  Metals: Final product: 

1999 AU / Ag dOré BArS

El Coronel is one of Mexico’s largest gold producing mines. The mineral content extracted from this open-pit mine 
undergoes beneficiation through heap leaching, a process in which the crushed material is deposited into leaching pads 
that are soaked in a chemical solution. The resulting  “rich” solution generated is then processed in a benefication plant 
until being melted down into doré bars containing sellable gold and silver content.

The expansion plan of El Coronel unit includes the installation of a new crushing circuit, expansion of prime solution ponds 
and additional leaching pad.  This will increase the nominal crushing capacity to  65,000 tonnes daily. Construction was 
100% completed by the end of 2012.  

el cOrOnel    ExPAnSiOn UniT
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The San Felipe unit is a open-pit mine whose extracted minerals undergo beneficiation by means of heap leaching to 
produce gold and silver doré bars. The site is currently in the final phase of expansion, which entails the building of a 
new crushing circuit, the formation of leaching pads and the installation of the Merrill Crowe plant, which will have a 
daily nominal processing capacity of 22,500 tonnes. Construction was 100% completed by the end of 2012. 

location:  Exploitation type: Process:

BAJA CAliFOrniA OPEn-PiT hEAP lEAChing

installed nominal milling capacity: new installed nominal crushing capacity Start of operations of new capacity:

7,500 TPd 22,500* APril 2013

Start of operations:  Metals: Final product: 

1994 AU / Ag dOré BArS

san Felipe    ExPAnSiOn UniT

* The prior capacity was taken offline.

- MinErA FriSCO 27 -- MINERA FRISCO 2012 -



location:  Exploitation type: Process:

ZACATECAS UndErgrOUnd Milling And FlOTATiOn

installed nominal milling capacity: new installed nominal crushing capacity Start of operations of additional capacity:

5,200 TPd 23,800 TPd 2014

Start of operations:  Metals: Final product: 

1972 AU / Ag /CU / PB / Zn COnCEnTrATES

This unit operates an underground polymetallic mine mainly for extracting of primary copper and lead-zinc bodies. The 
materials from this mine are extracted and milled at a plant with a daily nominal capacity of 5,200 tonnes. They are 
then distributed on a lead-zinc and copper-zinc circuit and undergo a flotation process to produce lead, zinc, and copper 
concentrates containing gold, silver, lead, zinc and copper content. A project to build a 5.6 km access ramp and install a 
crushing circuit, milling and flotation plant is being developed to extract a major mineralized body of primary copper. As 
of the end of 2012, 4,050 meters of the ramp had already been built. Site preparation had also begun, as had engineering 
and initial work on the beneficiation plant and tailings dam.

tayahua    ExPAnSiOn UniT
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location:  Exploitation type: Process:

ChihUAhUA OPEn-PiT dynAMiC lEAChing

installed nominal milling capacity: 

15,000 TPd

Start of operations:  Metals: Final product: 

2013 AU / Ag dOré BArS

A new gold and silver mine and beneficiation plant are being built at Concheño. This new project will be a pit mine, 
and its daily crushing and milling capacity will be 15,000 tonnes of material, which will then undergo benefication by 
dynamic leaching as part of the process of producing gold and silver doré bars. Concheño will contribute significantly 
to Minera Frisco’s future gold and silver output. The company expects that construction will be completed and that the 
commissioning and test phase will begin in the second quarter of 2013.

cOncheñO    nEW UniT
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location:  Exploitation type: Process:

ChihUAhUA OPEn-PiT FlOTATiOn And dynAMiC lEAChing

installed nominal milling capacity: 

10,000 TPd

Start of operations:  Metals: Final product: 

2013 AU / Ag dOré BArS

This new open-pit mine, which will operate independently, is being installed next to the San Francisco del Oro unit. 
After being crushed and milled on a train circuit with a daily nominal capacity of 10,000 tonnes, the extracted minerals 
will be transported to a new beneficiation plant, which is currently under construction, to undergo flotation and 
dynamic leaching as part of the process of producing gold and silver doré bars. The commissioning and testing phase 
is expected to begin in the second quarter of 2013.

nEW UniT
san FranciscO
del OrO Open-pit
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prOJects under FeasiBility
and iMpleMentatiOn
studies

One of the objectives of Minera Frisco’s ongoing exploration efforts is to evaluate new sites with 
potential for growth and exploitation which can be converted into future mining projects upon 
the conclusion of economic viability and feasibility studies, in other words, evaluate geological, 
mining, social and environmental characteristics. The company is currently researching a number 
of deposits, four of which have progressed to the implementation and feasibility study stage.

NAME METALS EXPLOITATION TYPE PROCESS

CAlCOSiTA CU OPEn-PiT hEAP lEAChing

VETAS nEgrAS AU / Ag OPEn-PiT dynAMiC lEAChing

CiMSA/CUMOBABi CU OPEn-PiT hEAP lEAChing

lAMPAZOS AU / PB OPEn-PiT / 
UndErgrOUnd

BUlK FlOTATiOn
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sustainaBle develOpMent

Minera Frisco understands that to be a leading 
mining company at the global level it must 
not only comprehensively fulfill its business 
purpose, but also contribute to the sustainable 
development of the communities in which it 
operates. To this end it considers sustainable 
development as a strategy and business 
culture element that allows us to promote and 
strengthen the development of the communities 
in which we operate by transferring resources 
and harmoniously coexisting, keeping risks 
from our operations to a minimum by adopting 
international standards, ensuring returns for 
our shareholders, and adopting responsible 
practices for caring for the environment.

This commitment to the economic, social, and 
environmental expectations of the communities 
where we work was recognized for the third-
consecutive year by our designation as a 
“Socially responsible Company” through our 
Minera real de Ángeles subsidiary. granted by 
the Mexican Philanthropy Center (Cemefi), this 
recognition is given to distinguish organizations 
which are publicly and voluntarily committed 
to socially responsible management as part of 
their business strategy and culture.

ThE EnVirOnMEnT
MinErA FriSCO’S OPErATiOnS ArE gUidEd 
By BEST PrACTiCS OF EnVirOnMEnTAl 
PrOTECTiOn.

Minera Frisco adopts the best practices for 
caring for the environment and each year invests 
in initiatives aimed at reducing, preventing, 
mitigating and offsetting environmental impact 
stemming from its operations in an effort to 
promote the recovery capacity environmental 
services. Frisco’s initiatives in the area of 
sustainability include the correct execution of 
operational plans for environmental control, 
guided by the proper management of water and 
energy resources, responsible environmental 
liability management, compliance with 
applicable environmental regulations and the 
implementation of environmental management 

systems, efforts which are always aligned with 
global best practices.

All of our operating units engage in efforts aimed 
at protecting species of flora and fauna, such 
as reforestation, the rescue and transplanting 
of plant species, along with animal species 
monitoring programs, especially of those 
listed in national and international decrees and 
regulations. likewise, the units also engage 
in soil-conservation efforts in areas affected 
by clearing and grubbing. Each business unit 
has its own plant nursery and produces plants, 
particularly native species, which are used to 
restore affected areas. The company reforested 
a total of 180 hectares, including and beyond 
its facilities.

Since 2001, Frisco has maintained the Wildlife 
Conservation Management Unit in the city of San 
Francisco del Oro, Chihuahua, a 150 hectare-
site primarily dedicated to the preservation of 
native and exotic species. 

in an effort to reduce electricity consumption, 
we have purchased and installed energy 
efficient equipment and systems that use 
alternative energy sources. All mining units also 
have wastewater treatment stations, allowing 
them to reduce first-time water use.

With respect to waste, plans for handling 
solid urban waste, hazardous waste, and 
mining waste that have been approved by the 
appropriate regulators are in place to ensure 
that all such waste products are removed to 
confinement facilities controlled by certified 
companies. 

Furthermore, the El Coronel, María, and Ocampo 
mining units have received Clean industry 
Certification from the Federal Attorney’s 
Office for Environmental Protection (Profepa) 
for voluntary compliance with an action plan 
stemming from the Environmental Audit, which 
addresses a number of aspects relating to air, 
water, soil, hazardous waste, industrial safety 
and hygiene, energy, environmental risks, and 

MinErA FriSCO’S CUlTUrE iS gUidEd By ThE 
iMPErATiVE TO COnTriBUTE TO ThE SUSTAinABlE 
dEVElOPMEnT OF All OF iTS BUSinESS UniTS And 
OF All OF ThErEgiOnS in WhiCh iT OPErATES 
And TO rESPOnSiBly MAnAgE ThE ECOnOMiC, 
EnVirOnMEnTAl, And SOCiAl ASPECTS OF EACh 
STAgE OF iTS Mining OPErATiOnS. 
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environmental management systems, among 
other elements. The San Francisco del Oro 
and Tayahua units are currently undergoing 
the Profepa recertification and certification 
processes, respectively. For its part, the 
Concheño unit, which has not yet commenced 
operations, is already working to identifying 
areas of opportunity and making decisions 
related to the Profepa national Auditing 
Program.

Frisco has signed onto the international Cyanide 
Management Code in a responsible effort to 
improve the operational practices at its gold-
producing units.

SOCiETy
MinErA FriSCO’S SOCiETy-rElATEd iniTiATiVES 
FOCUS PriMArily On STrEngThEning 
ThE SUSTAinABlE dEVElOPMEnT OF ThE 
COMMUniTiES in WhiCh iT OPErATES.

Minera Frisco has built social responsibility 
into all of its processes. This constant focus 
is manifest in the company’s day-to-day 
operations in the form of ethical and long-lasting 
relationships with clients, suppliers, employees, 
and the government, which help us achieve 
higher levels of competitiveness, community 
development, and respect for the environment, 
by means of sustainable processes, behaviors, 
and projects.

With the activities we carry out in conjunction 
with neighboring communities cater to the 
needs of different social fields, incorporating 
the participation of the communities and 
governments in traditional community events 
that contribute to strengthening company-
society bonds. Similarly, the development of 
joint projects to improve public, educational, and 
health infrastructure, primarily be collaborating 
directly with the government, schools, and 
public institutions; also the implementation 
of informational programs and campaigns 
that promote a culture of environmental 
awareness; support to communities that helps 
to improve basic quality of life aspects, such as 
housing, health care, education and hygiene; 
maintenance of collaborative relationships 
with stakeholders, which entails active 
participation in meetings and efforts to support 
the implementation of joint actions; programs 
and actions that strengthen relationships with 
and attention to the health sector; and, in 
general, promoting projects that strengthen the 
communities’ capacity for self-development.

in 2012 we offered residents of the communities 
adjacent to our mining units and construction 

sites courses designed to train them in areas 
other than mining and integrate them into 
economic activities, enhance the economic 
development of the surrounding areas, and 
reduce unemployment. Those trained were from 
the communities surrounding the Concheño, 
San Felipe and San Francisco del Oro mining 
units.

in 2012 we significantly increased our 
workforce, which had a positive impact on the 
communities in which we operate, since more 
than 80% of our workforce is locally hired. 
Moreover, since Minera Frisco considers that 
community relations go hand in hand with 
its growth and sustainability, the company 
sponsors numerous activities and programs 
to promote the sustainable development of 
such communities and also uses and shows 
preference for the goods and services of local 
providers, which helps to strengthen trust and 
creates mutual benefits.

likewise, Minera Frisco shows preference 
for local providers in meeting a variety of 
its operational needs, such as personnel 
transportation, materials hauling, and cleaning. 
it also uses locally provided goods and services 
to fulfill other requirements such as gasoline, 
sand, lodging, rentals, and food, among others. 
The use of these services, in addition to the 
local jobs created, had an economic impact of 
approximately $1.4 billion pesos in 2012.

One of the highlights in terms of our relations 
with local communities was the relocation and 
reconstruction of housing and services for the 
“Salaverna” community, which benefited more 
than 90 families living close to the Tayahua unit. 
The “nuevo Salaverna” subdivision was built 
in the city of Mazapil. it consists of a housing 
complex, complete with basic services and 
a paved common area with a medical unit, a 
school, a parish house, commercial spaces, 
and two multipurpose rooms. The community 
also has its own drinking water, drainage, 
and electricity systems. in economic terms, 
the project will benefit not only the Salaverna 
community but also the municipal seat of 
Mazapil by creating a new source of jobs 
with each phase, both directly and indirectly, 
considering that the quality of education will 
increase, helping to discourage migration from 
of the town. Furthermore, thanks to the digital 
classroom installed in collaboration with the 
Telmex Foundation, children and adults are 
able to learn to use computers and to find out 
what is happening in their region and around 
the world. Additionally, 44 families received 
free personal computers equipped with free 
internet access.
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EMPlOyEES
Minera Frisco considers its personnel to be 
its most important asset, and is well aware of 
the challenge involved in finding, developing, 
and retaining talent, which constitutes a 
fundamental pillar of its growth and business 
sustainability strategy. 

We hired 1,394 new employees in 2012, mostly 
from local communities, primarily because 
of the expansion and new unit construction 
projects. Furthermore, thanks to the acquisition 
of the Ocampo mine, Minera Frisco ended 
the year with more than 6,800 employees, 
an 86% increase compared to 2011. it is also 
important to note than in 2012 Minera Frisco 
also generated 3,500 indirect jobs in the form 
of contracted workers.

Frisco grants full freedom of association and 
recognizes the rights of workers to collectively 
bargain, and its workers who serve on 
union committees help to maintain healthy 
relationships between the company and 
unions, promoting positive communication to 
achieve the objectives of the business and of 
its internal employees. 
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With regard to compensation, the company pays 
fair and equitable wages and grants benefits 
exceeding Federal labor law requirements, 
such as life insurance and insurance for major 
medical expenses, savings accounts, assistance 
in applying for secondary and vocational school 
scholarships through strategic alliances with 
the Beca Telmex (Telmex Scholarship) and 
Beca digital Carso (Carso digital Scholarship) 
programs, among others.

The safety of its employees and of the 
neighboring communities is a priority for Frisco. 
With respect to this matter, Frisco works hard to 
establish, publicize, and ensure compliance with 
all of the preventive and protective measures 
created by its Safety and health committees 
and Training and inspections programs.
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cOrpOrate GOvernance

MinErA FriSCO’S BOArd OF dirECTOrS iS ThE 
BOdy rESPOnSiBlE FOr SETTing gUidElinES 
FOr dEVElOPing SUCCESSFUl PrACTiCES FOr 
ThE grOUP, SETTing COrPOrATE POliCiES And 
STrATEgiC PlAnning FOr iTS BUSinESSES And 
VEriFying COMPliAnCE WiTh ThOSE POliCiES 
And STrATEgiES.  

BOArd OF dirECTOrS

Board Members Positions*

Years as 
Board 

Member**
Type of 

Member*
Carlos Slim helú Chairman - Carlos Slim Foundation 2 Proprietary

Chairman - Telmex Foundation related

Chairman - Carso infraestructura y 
Construcción

José humberto gutiérrez Chairman - Minera Frisco 2 related

Olvera Zubizarreta CEO - grupo Carso

Chairman and CEO - grupo Condumex

Alejandro Aboumrad gonzález CEO - Minera Frisco 1 related

CEO - impulsora del desarrollo y el Empleo en 
América latina

Sergio W. Covarrubias Vázquez CEO - Tecnología y Sistemas 2 independent

CEO- Constructora y Fraccionadora 
Montebello

Alejandro gutiérrez gutiérrez Advisor 2 independent

guillermo gutiérrez Saldívar Chairman - grupo idESA 2 independent

CEO - Equipos Mecánicos

José Kuri harfush Chairman - Janel 2 related

gerardo Kuri Kaufmann CEO - inmuebles Carso 2 related

Juan rodríguez Torres Advisor 2 independent

José Shedid Mehry Advisor 2 independent

Patrick Slim domit Vice President - grupo Carso 2 Proprietary

Chairman - América Móvil related

CEO - grupo Sanborns

Mass Market Commercial director - Teléfonos 
de México
Chairman - Sears Operadora México

Treasurer
Quintín humberto
Botas hernández

Comptroller - grupo Condumex 2

Pro-secretary
Alejandro Archundia Becerra Chief Corporate legal Manager - grupo 

Condumex
2

* Based on information provided by the directors.
** Member seniority became a consideration in 2011 after the shares of Minera Frisco, S.A.B. de 

C.V. were listed on the stock exchange.
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MinErA FriSCO, S.A.B. dE C.V.

cOrpOrate practices and audit cOMMittee

Annual report
To the Board of directors:
i submit the following annual report of activities 
for the fiscal year 2012 in my capacity as 
chairman of the Corporate Practices and Audit 
Committee of Minera Frisco, S.A.B. de C.V. (the 
“Committee”):

Corporate Practices, Evaluation, and 
Compensation Functions
The CEO of Minera Frisco, S.A.B. de C.V. (the 
“Company”) and the executive officers of the 
legal entities controlled by it satisfactorily 
met the objectives and responsibilities 
entrusted to them.

The operations with related parties submitted for 
the Committee’s consideration were approved. 
These included the following significant 
and successively executed operations, each 
of which represents more than 1% of the 
consolidated assets of the Corporation: Cobre 
de México, S.A. de C.V., for selling copper 
cathode; Condumex, inc., for purchasing parts, 
equipment, and software; Operadora Cicsa, 
S.A. de C.V., for building plants, assembling 
equipment and leasing machinery and 
equipment; and Sinergia Soluciones integrales 
para la Construcción, S.A. de C.V., for electrical 
material, tools, and equipment.

All of the operations with related parties were 
reviewed by galaz, yamazaki, ruiz Urquiza, 
S.C., and are summarized in a note appended 
to the audited financial statements of Minera 
Frisco, S.A.B. de C.V. and subsidiaries as of 
december 31, 2012. 

The CEO of Minera Frisco, S.A.B. de C.V. is not 
compensated for the performance of his duties. 
The Company has no employees, and with 
regard to the overall compensation of executive 
officers of the companies the Company controls 
we verified it complied with policies adopted by 
the Board of directors.

The Company’s Board of directors did not grant 
any exemption allowing any board member, 
executive officer, or person in authority to take 
advantage of business opportunities relating to 
the Company or to the legal entities it controls 
or over which it has significant influence for 
their own benefit or on behalf of third parties. 
The Committee also did not grant exemptions 
relative to the transactions referred to in item 
c) of Section iii of Article 28 of the Securities 
Market law.

Audit Functions
The internal control and auditing system of 
Minera Frisco, S.A.B. de C.V. and the legal 
entities it controls is satisfactory and meets the 
guidelines approved by the Board of directors, 
based on a review of the information provided to 
the Committee by the Company’s management 
and the external auditor’s report.

We did not detect any material instance of 
noncompliance with the guidelines of the 
Company or of the legal entities it controls with 
respect to operating policies and accounting 
records. Therefore, no preventive or corrective 
measures were implemented.
The performance of the accounting firm galaz, 
yamazaki, ruiz Urquiza, S.C., the legal entity 
which audited the financial statements of 
Minera Frisco, S.A.B. de C.V. and its subsidiaries 
as of december 31, 2012, was satisfactory, and 
the objectives established when the firm was 
engaged were attained. Furthermore, according 
to the information the firm provided the 
Company’s management, its external auditing 
fees came to less than 20% of its total revenue.

The review of the financial statements of 
Minera Frisco, S.A.B. de C.V. and its subsidiaries 
as of december 31, 2012 determined that no 
adjustments or further qualifications to those 
documents were necessary.

According to what Company management 
reported to us and the what we ascertained 
in meetings with the external and internal 
auditors, at which Company officials were not 
present, and to our knowledge, no material 
observations were made   by shareholders, 
board members, executive officers, employees 
and, in general, any third parties, regarding 
the accounting, internal controls and issues 
pertaining to the internal or external auditing. 
likewise, no complaints were filed by those 
persons concerning irregularities on the part of 
the Company’s management.

We verified that resolutions adopted at 
shareholders’ meetings and by the Board of 
directors of the Company were duly observed 
during the reporting period. Furthermore, and 
based on the information provided to us by the 
Company’s management, we verified that it has 
in place controls for ascertaining compliance 
with the provisions applicable to it with respect 
to the stock market and that at least once 
a year the legal department reviews such 
compliance. no observation in this regard or 
adverse change in legal status was detected.

We verified that the financial information the 
Company prepares and submits to the Bolsa 
Mexicana de Valores, S.A.B. de C.V. (Mexican 
Stock Exchange) and to the Comisión nacional 
Bancaria y de Valores (national Banking 
and Securities Commission) is prepared in 
accordance with the same principles, criteria, 
and accounting practices it uses to prepare its 
annual information.

Finance and Planning Functions
The Company and some of the legal entities 
it controls made substantial investments in 
2012. in this respect, we verified that financing 
arrangements were consonant with the 
Company’s medium- and long-term strategic 
plan. Furthermore, we periodically assess 
whether the Company’s strategic position is 
consistent with said plan. We also reviewed and 
evaluated the budget for the 2012 fiscal year, 
comparing it to the financial projections it was 
based on, which included the Company’s main 
investments and financing transactions, which 
we considered to be viable and consistent with 
the its investment and financing policies and 
with its strategic vision.

in preparing this report, the Corporate Practices 
and Audit Committee relied on information 
provided to it by the CEO of the Company, the 
executive officers of the entities it controls, and 
the external auditor.

Juan rodríguez torres
President
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independenT audiToRs’ RepoRT
TO ThE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCkhOLDERS
OF MINERA FRISCO, S.A.B. DE C.V.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Minera Frisco, S.A.B. 
de C.V. and subsidiaries (the “Entity”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial 
position as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 and as of January 1, 2011 (transition date), the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash 
flows for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, and a summary of the significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for 
such internal controls as management deems necessary for the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Responsibility of the Independent Auditors
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based 
on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. 
Those standards require that we comply with the ethical requirements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are 
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Minera Frisco, S.A.B. de C.V. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2012 and 
2011 and January 1, 2011 (transition date), and their financial performance and their cash flows 
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.

Other matter
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been translated into English for the 
convenience of readers.

galaz, yamazaki, Ruiz urquiza, S. C.
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited

C. P. C. Walter Fraschetto
April 4, 2013
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MINERA FRISCO, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SuBSIDIARIES 

consolidaTed sTaTeMenTs oF coMpRehensiVe incoMe
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
(In thousands of Mexican pesos except the Basic earnings per common share which is expressed in Mexican pesos)

2012 2011

Net sales22 $ 9,024,962 $ 8,544,566

Cost of sales 4,964,841 4,028,829
Project exploration expenses and mining concessions rights23 626,919 425,636

gross profit 3,433,202 4,090,101

Selling expenses23 122,109 105,833
Administrative expenses23 533,030 405,684
Other expenses, net24 135,975 180,373
Exchange gain, net 2,238,864 356,561
Interest expense 270,595 606,061
Interest income 14,223 44,658
Loss on valuation of financial instruments, net 3,274,592 2,332,968

2,083,214 3,229,700

Income before income taxes 1,349,988 860,401

Income taxes25 418,370 177,641

Consolidated net income 931,618 682,760

Other components of comprehensive income:
Translation effects of foreign entities (2,106,221) 1,361,890
Valuation of derivative financial instruments 2,402,939 6,184,439
Actuarial (loss) gain for employees benefits (81) 123
Income taxes related to components of comprehensive income (572,543) (1,842,921)

Consolidated comprehensive income $ 655,712 $ 6,386,291

Consolidated net income applicable to:
Controlling interest $ 883,914 $ 570,535
Non-controlling interest 47,704 112,225

$ 931,618 $ 682,760

Comprehensive income applicable to:
Controlling interest $ 648,739 $ 6,232,693
Non-controlling interest 6,973 153,598

$ 655,712 $ 6,386,291

Basic earnings per common share of controlling interest $ 0.3472617 $ 0.2330302

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding (´000) 2,545,383 2,448,330

MINERA FRISCO, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SuBSIDIARIES

consolidaTed sTaTeMenTs oF Financial posiTion
As of December 31, 2012 and 2011 and as of January 1, 2011 (transition date)
(In thousands of Mexican pesos)

2012 2011
January 1,

2011 
assets:
Current assets:

Cash, restricted cash and cash equivalents8 $ 1,378,859 $ 4,861,356 $ 6,340,132
Accounts receivable, Net9 2,586,517 1,645,860 1,364,141
Due from related parties21 494,202 612,004 266,058
Inventories, Net10 2,555,863 1,371,354 1,280,845
Prepaid expenses 477,724 150,253 666,313
Derivative financial instruments16 29,825 726,180 47,097

Total current assets 7,522,990 9,367,007 9,964,586

Property, plant and equipment, Net11 23,448,555 13,410,871 4,887,249
Deferred taxes25 - 759,082 2,584,011
Investment in mining concessions, Net12 467,418 373,144 309,331
Other assets3 7,581,274 1,561,622 1,790,200
Total $ 39,020,237 $ 25,471,726 $ 19,535,377

liabilities and stockholders’ equity:
Current liabilities:

Marketable notes18 $ 7,700,000 $ 8,350,000 $ -
Current portion of long term debt due to related parties18 - - 116,715
Accounts payable to suppliers 653,394 250,534 214,569
Due to related parties21 815,903 170,390 545,913
Other liabilities and accrued expenses 631,687 337,764 310,581
Direct employee benefits 191,473 191,825 154,475
Derivative financial instruments16 390,281 410,698 297,398

Total current liabilities 10,382,738 9,711,211 1,639,651

Long term debt18 14,311,110 - 12,499,330
Provision for environment remediation17 358,413 215,072 207,969
Deferred taxes25 216,766 - -
Employee benefits19 9,046 7,529 6,113
Derivative financial instruments16 36,461 2,244,207 3,977,221

Total liabilities 25,314,534 12,178,019 18,330,284

Stockholders’ equity:
Capital stock20 74,362 74,362 67,274
Additional paid-in capital  11,396,656  11,396,656 -
Retained earnings 3,823,278 3,185,556 6,832,245
Translation effects of foreign entities (782,895) 1,149,209 (135,066)
Loss on valuation of derivative financial instruments16 (1,276,116) (2,973,126) (6,838,968)
Other 42 123 -

Controlling interest 13,235,327 12,832,780 (74,515)
Non-controlling interest 470,376 460,927 1,279,608

Total stockholders’ equity 13,705,703 13,293,707 1,205,093
Total $ 39,020,237 $ 25,471,726 $ 19,535,377

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



- MINERA FRISCO 51 -- MINERA FRISCO 2012 -

MINERA FRISCO, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SuBSIDIARIES

consolidaTed sTaTeMenTs oF changes in sTockholdeRs’ equiTy
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
(In thousands of Mexican pesos)

Translation other equity equity
additional effects for Valuation of components of the of the

capital paid – in Retained foreign financial of comprehensive controlling non-controlling
stock capital earnings entities instruments income interest interest Total

Balances as of January 1, 2011 (Transition date) $ 67,274 $ - $ 6,832,245 $ (135,066) $ (6,838,968) $ - $ (74,515) $ 1,279,608 $ 1,205,093

Increase in capital stock 7,088 11,396,656 - - - - 11,403,744 - 11,403,744

Dividends paid - - - - - - - (73,500) (73,500)

Decrease in non-controlling interest of subsidiaries due topurchase 
of shares - - (4,217,224) - (511,918) - (4,729,142) (898,779) (5,627,921)

Comprehensive income of the year - - 570,535 1,284,275 4,377,760 123 6,232,693 153,598 6,386,291

Balances as of December 31, 2011 74,362 11,396,656 3,185,556 1,149,209 (2,973,126) 123 12,832,780 460,927 13,293,707

Dividends paid - - (246,192) - - - (246,192) 9,335 (236,857)

Decrease in non-controlling interest of subsidiaries due to purchase 
of shares - - - - - - - (6,860) (6,860)

Comprehensive income of the year - - 883,914 (1,932,104) 1,697,010 (81) 648,739 6,974 655,713

Balances as of December 31, 2012 $ 74,362 $ 11,396,656 $ 3,823,278 $ (782,895) $ (1,276,116) $ 42 $ 13,235,327 $ 470,376 $ 13,705,703

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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1. acTiViTies

Minera Frisco, S.A.B. de C.V. and subsidiaries (the “Entity”), is a direct and indirect holding company of shares in a group of companies 
engaged in the exploration and exploitation of mining lands for the production and sale of concentrates of lead-silver, zinc, copper, “dore” 
(gold and silver) and copper cathodes. Such activity corresponds to the mining industry. 

The main business address of the Entity is located in Lago Zurich 245, Frisco building, 7th floor, Ampliacion granada, México, D. F.

2. adopTion oF inTeRnaTional Financial RepoRTing sTandaRds (iFRs) 

a. iFRs adoption- Starting January 1, 2012, the Entity adopted IFRS, and related improvements and interpretations thereto issued 
by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) which are in effect as of December 31, 2012; January 1, 2011 is the 
transition date. Consequently, the last annual financial statements of the Entity for the year ended December 31, 2011 are part 
of the first annual financial statements prepared under IFRS. For this reason, the Entity applied IFRS 1 First Time Adoption of 
International Financial Reporting Standards. IFRS literature is comprises of standards and related interpretations known as IFRS, 
IAS, IFRIC and SIC.

IFRS 1 requires the retrospective application of the standards and interpretations that are effective at the date of the first report. 
however, IFRS 1 allows some exceptions in the application of some standards in the prior periods, with the objective of facilitating 
the transition process. The Entity has applied the mandatory exceptions and has taken certain optional exemptions in connection 
with its first time adoption as described below. Additional information related to the adoption effects is presented in the Note 28

Mandatory exceptions:

i) estimates - The Entity applied the mandatory exception related to accounting estimates as of the date of transition. This 
exception results in consistency in the accounting estimates used as of the same date under Mexican Financial Reporting 
Standards (MFRS), except for the estimates that are determined on a basis that differs from accounting policies under 
IFRS.

ii) non - controlling interest - The Entity retrospectively applied certain requirements of IAS 27 (2008) Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements beginning as of the transition date.

Additionally, the Entity has applied the following optional exemptions in its first time adoption of IFRS:

i) Starting on the transition date, the Entity prospectively applied IFRS guidance related to business combinations which 
occurred before the transition date. The initial financial statements incorporate the values and classifications of the 
acquired assets and liabilities as determined under MFRS.

ii) Regarding property, plant and equipment, the Entity decided to use the amount with inflation effects as determined using 
the MFRS as of the date of transition as assumed cost. 

iii) Related to employee benefits, the Entity applied the exemption which allows for the recognition of all actuarial accumulated 
gains and losses as of the date of transition in all employee benefits plans instead of split the recognized portion from 
the non-recognized portion. Additionally, the Entity adopted the modifications of IAS 19 (2011) Employee Benefits. This 
resulted in the recognition of the total past services to be amortized as of the date of transition. 

MINERA FRISCO, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SuBSIDIARIES

noTes To consolidaTed Financial sTaTeMenTs 
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 and January 1, 2011 (transition date)
(In thousands of Mexican pesos)

MINERA FRISCO, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SuBSIDIARIES

consolidaTed sTaTeMenTs oF cash Flow
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(In thousands of Mexican pesos)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

2012 2011
Operating activities:

Income before income taxes $ 1,349,988 $ 860,401
Items related to investing activities:

Depreciation and amortization 1,014,901 732,107
(gain) loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (11,056) 11,075
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 3,711 37,727
Adjustment in useful lives of property, plant and equipment - (11,847)

Items related to financing activities:
Interest expense 270,595 606,061
unrealized exchange loss 98,431 -

2,726,570 2,235,524

Items related to operating activities:
(Increase) decrease in:

Accounts receivable (669,914) (367,192)
Due from related parties 117,802 (345,946)
Inventories (923,539) 94,021
Prepaid expenses (291,977) 516,061

Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable to suppliers 248,875 35,965
Due to related parties 645,513 (375,523)
Other liabilities 251,636 73,697
Paid income taxes (376,054) (110,684)
Derivative financial instruments 1,977,050 4,151,334
Interest gain (14,223) (44,658)

Net cash provided by operating activities 3,691,739 5,862,599

Investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (10,535,077) (8,065,200)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 59,297 41,856
Intangible assets and deferred expenses (348,084) (192,906)
Interest received 14,223 44,658
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash (9,748,250) (5,627,921)

Net cash used in investing activities (20,557,891) (13,799,513)

Financing activities:
Increase in capital stock and additional paid-in capital - 11,403,744
Loans received 13,661,110 8,350,000
Loans paid to related parties - (12,616,045)
Interest paid (270,595) (606,061)
Paid dividends (6,860) (73,500)

Net cash provided by financing activities 13,383,655 6,458,138

Decrease in cash, restricted cash and cash equivalents (3,482,497) (1,478,776)
Cash, restricted cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 4,861,356 6,340,132

Cash, restricted cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year $ 1,378,859 $ 4,861,356
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b. acquisition of non-controlling interest of subsidiaries due to purchase of shares -

1. On May 2, 2012, Minera CX, S.A. de C.V. and Minera María, S.A. de C.V., subsidiaries of the Entity, acquired the 32% 
of the outstanding share capital of Compañía Internacional Minera, S.A. de C.V. As a result, Minera Frisco indirectly 
increased its controlling interest in the capital stock of Compañía Internacional Minera to 99.57%.

2. Pursuant to a resolution of the general ordinary stockholders’ meeting on April 29, 2011, the Company acquired 39.2% 
of the shares of Minera Tayahua, S.A. de C.V. (“Tayahua”) on May 27, 2011. As such, the Company increased its 
controlling interest by $5,627,921 which represents 89.98% of the equity of Tayahua.

c. split and merger of subsidiaries -

1. Pursuant to a resolution of the general extraordinary stockholders’ meeting on July 26, 2012, a merger was approved 
between Minera Real de Angeles, S.A. de C.V. (“Real de Angeles”) as merging entity, and Cahuisori, Compañía San 
Felipe, S.A. de C.V. (“San Felipe”) and Construcciones y Servicios Frisco, S.A. de C.V., as merged entities. Such merger 
was effective on July 31, 2012. As such, as of the merger date, Real de Angeles absorbed the total assets, liabilities and 
stock capital of the merged entities. Cahuisori, San Felipe and Construcciones y Servicios Frisco, S.A. de C.V., ceased 
being legal entities on such date.

2. Pursuant to a resolution of the general extraordinary stockholders’ meeting of Minera San Francisco del Oro, S.A. de C.V. 
(“Minera San Francisco”) on December 26, 2011, the spin-off of Minera San Francisco was approved, resulting in the 
creation of three new entities consisting of Compañía Minera Cahuisori, S.A. de C.V. (“Cahuisori”), Minera Espejeras, S.A. 
de C.V. and Minera Arroyo de la Danta, S.A. de C.V. Minera San Francisco contributed a portion of its assets, liabilities and 
capital stock to the three new entities.

4. Basis oF pResenTaTion and consolidaTion 

Explanations for translation into English - The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been translated from 
Spanish into English for use outside of Mexico. These consolidated financial statements are presented on the basis of IFRS. 
Certain accounting practices applied by the Entity that conform to IFRS may not conform to accounting principles generally 
accepted in the country of use.

a. Basis of preparation – The consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 and January 1, 2011 
(transition date), and for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 have been prepared under IFRS.

 The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis of accounting; hence, 
the effects of inflation in some non-current assets and in the financial instruments to their fair value. generally, historical cost 
is based on the fair value of the transaction. The consolidated financial statements are prepared in pesos, which is the legal 
currency used in the united Mexican States (“México”) and are presented in thousands of pesos, except when it is indicated. 

 The following accounting policies have being consistently applied in all the presented periods.

b. Basis of consolidation of financial statements - The financial statements of Minera Frisco, S.A.B. de C.V. and the direct and 
indirect subsidiaries on which there is effective control. The ownership percentages as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 and 
as of January 1, 2011 are presented below. The intercompany balances and transactions have being eliminated from these 
consolidated financial statements.

Ownership %

Subsidiary 2012 2011
January 1, 

2011 Activity
Minera CRA, S. A de  C. V. 99.99 99.99 99.99 holding.

Minera CX, S. A. de    C. V. 99.57 99.57 99.57 holding.

Minera Tayahua, S.A. de C.V. 89.98 89.98 50.78

Production and sale of con-
centrates of lead - silver, zinc 
and copper. 

Compañía Minera Tayahua,
   S.A. de C.V. 89.98 89.98 50.78 Services.

iv) Due to the Entity’s main activity, it is required to record provisions related to liabilities for environment remediation 
and assets retirement obligations as required by IFRIC 1 Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and 
Similar Liabilities. The Entity applied the exemption and calculated the respective adjustments in assets, liabilities and 
accumulated depreciation as of the transition date.

v) The Entity applied the exemption related to IAS 23 Borrowing Costs, which allows using the transition date as the 
beginning date to capitalize the costs of loans related to the qualifying assets.

b. Translation effects of foreign transactions - To consolidate financial statements of foreign transactions, the foreign transactions 
are converted to the functional currently using the following methodology:

 Foreign operations whose functional and recording currency are the same, are translated using the following exchange rates: 
1) the closing exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date for monetary assets and liabilities; 2) the historical exchange 
rate for non-monetary assets and liabilities, stockholders’ equity; and revenues, costs and expenses, except for those arising 
from non-monetary items that are translated using the historical exchange rate for the related non-monetary item. The 
translation effects are recorded within the comprehensive income (loss). The effects related to the financial instruments are 
initially recorded within the comprehensive income and later are reclassified from the stockholder´s equity to gain and losses 
when the investments are realized.

 Foreign transactions of non-monetary items recorded to their fair value are translated using the exchange rate as of the 
date in which the fair value was determined. Those non-monetary items which are calculated in terms of historical cost 
are not translated.

 Transactions in foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as of the date of the transaction. Assets and liabilities 
in foreign currency are translated to the functional currency using the exchange rate as of the date of the consolidated financial 
statements. Exchange fluctuations are recorded within the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

 As shown below, the uS dollar is the main functional currency for subsidiaries except for those that are not mining operations and 
those that are dedicated to providing services. The Mexican peso is the recording currency and the reporting currency since the 
Mexican peso is the currency used in the country in which the Entity performs its activity and the currency in which the financial 
results are informed to the stockholders.

Subsidiary Recording currency Functional currency

Minera Real de Angeles, S.A. de C.V. Mexican Peso uS dollar

Minera San Francisco del Oro, S.A. de C.V. Mexican Peso uS dollar

Minera Tayahua, S.A. de C.V. Mexican Peso uS dollar

Minera María, S.A. de C.V. Mexican Peso uS dollar

AuRico gold de México, S.A. de C.V. Mexican Peso uS dollar

For that reason, such subsidiaries are considered as foreign entities under IFS

In the individual financial statements of the above subsidiaries, transactions in other currencies are recorded using exchange 
rates as of the date of the transactions.

3. signiFicanT eVenTs oF The yeaR

a. acquisition of auRico gold de México, s.a. de c.V.

On December 14, 2012, the Entity acquired 100% of the outstanding share capital of AuRico gold de México, S.A. de C.V. 
(“AuRico”). Aurico is the owner of the concession rights to operate and exploit the mining project known as “Ocampo” and has 
factibility studies and other exploration activities in the properties known as “Venus” and “Los Jarros”, all of which are located 
in Chihuahua. The total amount of the acquisition consideration was u.S. $723 million dollars. Additionally, the purchase contract 
includes an agreement related to a joint venture between the Company and Aurico gold Inc. in the project known as “Orion” 
located in Nayarit for a total amount of u.S. $27 million dollars which was paid on the same date.

The Entity is in process of valuating the acquired assets and liabilities to their fair value. Such valuation has being performed by 
an independent appraiser.
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subsidiaries - The subsidiaries are all the entities (including those entities with special purposes – ESP´s) on which the 
Entity has power and control to rule the operative and financing policies. generally, the Entity owns more than a half of 
the shares with voting rights. The existence and effects of the potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or 
convertible are considered to evaluate if the Entity rules to another entity. The subsidiaries consolidate since the date on 
which the control is transferred to the Entity and cease to be consolidated on the date on which control is lost. Standards 
Interpretations Committee (SIC) states that ESP´s must be consolidated when the relationship between the Entity and the 
ESP indicates that the Entity has control over the ESP.

Accounting policies in the subsidiaries are modified when it is needed in order to ensure that consistency exists with the 
policies as adopted by the Entity.

changes in the group ownership interest in existing subsidiaries.

Changes in the Entity´s ownership interest in subsidiary that do not result in the group losing control over the subsidiaries are 
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Entity´s interest and the non-controlling interest are adjusted to 
reflect the changes in their relative interest in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling 
interest are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration pair or received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to 
owners of the Entity.

When Entity losses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss and it is calculated as the difference 
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the 
previous carrying amount of the asset (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. 
When assets of the subsidiary are carried at revaluated amounts of fair values and the related cumulative gain or loss has 
been recognized in the other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the amounts previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Entity had directly disposed of the relevant asset 
(i.e. reclassified to profit or lost or transferred directly to retained earnings as specified by applicable IFRS). The fair value of any 
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded at the fair value on initial recognition for 
subsequent accounting under IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost of initial 
recognition of an investment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity.

5. suMMaRy oF signiFicanT accounTing policies

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with IFRS issued by the IASB. Their preparation 
require that management make certain estimates and use certain assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial 
statements and their related disclosures; however, actual results may differ from such estimates. The Entity’s management, upon applying 
professional judgment, considers that estimates made and assumptions used were adequate under the circumstances. The significant 
accounting policies of the Entity are as follows:

a. Financial asset – Financial assets are recognized when a portion of the contract terms of the instrument are met.

Financial assets are initially valuated to fair value. Transaction costs directly related to the acquisition of the financial assets 
(other than the financial assets at fair value with changes in the comprehensive income) are added or deducted from the fair 
value of the financial asset at the moment of the initial recognition. Transaction costs directly related to the acquisition of financial 
assets or liabilities which are recognized in the comprehensive income are immediately recognized in the comprehensive income 
or loss of the year.

All regular ways purchases or sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized on a trade date basis. Regular ways 
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that required delivery of assets within the time frame established 
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial asset “at fair value through profit or loss” (FVTPL), 
“held-to-maturity investments”, “available for sale” (AFS) financial assets and “loans and receivables”. The classification 
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and it is determined at initial recognition. Currently, the Entity has 
loans and accounts receivable.

Ownership percentage

Subsidiary
2012 2011 January 1, 

2011 Activity
Compañía San Felipe, S.A. 

de C.V. - 99.57 99.57
Rent of equipment and
machinery.

Minera San Francisco del Oro, 
S.A. de C.V. 99.57 99.57 99.57

Production and sale of 
concentrates of lead – silver, 
zinc and copper. 

Minera Real de Angeles, S.A. 
de C.V. 99.57 99.57 99.57

Production and sale of 
concentrates of lead - silver, 
zinc and dore (gold and 
silver).

Aurico gold de México, S.A. 
de C.V. 100.00 - -

Production and sale of gold 
and silver.

Minera María, S.A. de C.V. 99.57 99.57 99.57
Production and sale of copper 
cathodes.

Construcciones y Servicios 
Frisco, S.A. de C.V. - 99.57 99.57 Services.

Compañía Internacional 
Minera, S.A. de C.V. 99.57 67.71 67.71 In exploration stage.

Servicios Minera Real de 
Angeles, S.A. de C.V. 99.57 99.57 99.57 Services.

Compañía Minera San 
Francisco del Oro, S. A.

   de C.V. 99.57 99.57 - Services.

Empresa Minera de San 
Francisco del Oro, 

   S.A. de C.V. 99.57 99.57 - Services.

Minera Espejeras, S.A. de C.V. 99.57 - - In exploration stage.

Minera Arroyo de la Danta, 
S.A. de C.V. 99.57 - - In exploration stage.

Multiservicios de Exploración 
geológica Frisco, S.A.

   de C. V. 100.00 - - Services.

Servicios Corporativos Frisco, 
S.A. de C.V. 99.57 - - Services.

Participation in the results and stock capital changes of purchased or sold subsidiaries that occurred during the period are 
included in the financial statements from and up to the date on which the transactions took place.

The non-controlling interest in the subsidiaries is identified on a separate basis with respect to the investments that the Entity 
has in such subsidiaries. The non-controlling interest could be initially valued at fair value or in proportion to the non-controlling 
interest over the fair value of the recognized net assets of the acquired Entity. The selection of the valuation basis is made 
individually for each one of the transactions. After the acquisition, the value of the controlling interest represents the amount of 
the initial participation plus the portion of the non-controlling participations. The comprehensive income is attributed to the non-
controlling interest even if a loss exists.
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- impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than these at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting 
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more 
events that occurred at the initial recognition of the financial asset the estimated future cash flows of the investment 
have been affected.

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered 
to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include: 

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or 
• breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or 
• It becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organization.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets are assessed for impairment on a collective basis 
even if they were assessed not to be impaired individually. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could 
include the Entity’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past 
the average credit period of 60 days, as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with 
default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognized is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception 
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is 
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 
are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognized in profit 
or loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortized cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and 
the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized 
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the 
impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized.

In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses previously recognized in profit or loss are not reversed through profit or 
loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
under the heading of investments revaluation reserve. In respect of AFS debt securities, impairment losses are subsequently 
reversed through profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring 
after the recognition of the impairment loss.

- derecognition of financial assets

The Entity derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another 
party. If the Entity neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the Entity recognizes its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for 
amounts it may have to pay. If the Entity retains substantially all the risk and rewards of ownership of a transferred 
financial asset, the Entity continues to recognize the financial asset and also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for 
the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognized in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in equity is recognized in profit or loss.

- Financial assets at FVTpl 

Financial assets are classified as FVTPL when the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

•  It has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or 

•  On initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Entity manages together 
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•  It is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if: 

•  Such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would 
otherwise arise or; 

•  The financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and 
its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with Entity’s documented risk management or 
investment strategy and information about the grouping is provided internally on the basis; or

•  It forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives and IAS 39 Financial instruments: 
recognition and measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designed as FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on re-measurement recognized in 
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial 
asset and is included in other gains and losses line item within the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. 
Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 15.

- held – to maturity investments

held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments at fixed maturity 
dates that the group has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to· 
maturity investments are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less any impairment.

- loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. Loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less 
any impairment. An allowance is recorded in the income or loss when there is evidence of impairment in the accounts 
receivable. Interest revenues are recognized using the effective rate, except with respect to receivables for which the 
effects are immaterial.

- The effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where 
appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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e. leasing - Leases are classified as finance lease whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

f. Mining development - Corresponds to the deferred expenses incurred in connection with mining development, which mainly 
consists of the stripping costs. Such costs are incurred prior to the production phase of exploitable new mines. These costs are 
incurred to prepare new and unique mining locations that outside the current production phase mining area for production. Mining 
development costs are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization and less any impairment loss identified. Amortization 
is calculated using the straight line method based on the estimated useful lives. useful lives are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Exploration expenses and other related costs incurred during the process of finding new mineral reserves are recorded as 
expenses within the period in which they were incurred.

Exploration expenses and other related costs to determine an addition in the mineral reserves within locations that are already 
in a production stage are recorded within the comprehensive income of the year. The Entity performs feasibility studies to 
determine the existence additional proved and probable mineral reserves. The costs of site preparation and other related costs 
represent a probable future benefit which requires the individual or group capacity of assets to contribute directly or indirectly 
in a positive way to the future cash flow. As such, these costs are classified as mining development costs and are capitalized 
as they are incurred until the beginning of the production state and they are amortized during the estimated useful lives of the 
mineral deposits.

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 the Entity capitalized mining development costs of $344,948 and $170,370, 
respectively.

g. investments in mining concessions - Corresponds to investments in mining concessions recorded at acquisition cost. 
Amortization is calculated on a straight line method based on the estimated useful lives. useful lives are reviewed at the end of 
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

h. goodwill - goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established al the date of acquisition of the 
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any. 

When the fair value of the net identified assets of the acquired entity exceed the sum of the transferred consideration. The amount 
in excess is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as a purchase gain.

goodwill is not subject of amortization. It is subject of an annual impairment testing. For the purposes of impairment testing, 
goodwill is allocated to each of the Entity’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit 
from the synergies of the combination. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the 
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets 
of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognized directly 
in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit 
or loss on disposal. 

i. interest in joint venture - A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Entity and other parties undertake an 
economic activity that is subject to joint control (i.e. when the strategic financial and operating policy decisions relating to 
the activities of the joint venture require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control). When an entity undertakes its 
activities under joint venture arrangements directly, the Entity’s share of jointly controlled assets and any liabilities incurred jointly 
with other venturers are recognized in the financial statements of the relevant entity and c1assified according to their nature. 
Liabilities and expenses incurred directly in respect of interests in jointly controlled assets are accounted for on an accrual basis. 
Income from the sale or use of the Entity’s share of the output of jointly controlled assets, and its share of joint venture expenses, 
are recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transactions will flow to/from the Entity and 
their amount can be measured reliably.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety (e.g. when the Entity retains an option to repurchase part of 
a transferred asset), the Entity allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset between the part it continues 
to recognize under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer recognizes on the basis of the relative fair values of 
those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer 
recognized and the sum of the consideration received for the part no longer recognized and any cumulative gain or loss 
allocated to it that had been recognized in other comprehensive income is recognized in profit or loss. A cumulative 
gain or loss that had been recognized in other comprehensive income is allocated between the part that continues to be 
recognized and the part that is no longer recognized on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

b. inventories and cost of sales - Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value (estimated selling price less 
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale) as follows:

Concentrates, copper cathodes and Dore are valued at their production cost which comprises the direct costs and an allocation 
of the fixed and variable expenses including depreciation and amortization incurred in the extraction of mineral. Decreases in the 
value of inventories are recognized via the allowance for impairment losses.

Cost of sales is determined using the absorption costing method. Net realizable value represents the estimated sale price less 
the estimated conclusion costs and the sale costs of the final product.

Material and spare parts inventories are controlled using the first in, first out method less the allowance for impairment losses.

c. property, plant and equipment – Land, buildings and machinery held for use them in the production or for supplying of services 
or for administrative purposes  are stated at their acquisition cost 

Depreciation is recognized so as to write off the cost of valuation of assets (other than freehold land and properties under 
construction) less their values over useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and 
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for 
on a prospective basis.

Properties under construction with production purposes are measured at cost less any impairment loss identified. The cost 
includes professional fees, borrowing costs for qualifying assets in accordance to the Entity´s policy. Depreciation starts when 
the asset is being used.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method based on the useful lives of the assets as follows:

% average rate of 
depreciation

2012 and 2011 % residual value
Buildings and constructions 3.33 to 10 -
Machinery and equipment 6 to 33.33 5 to 10
Vehicles 20 a 25 7
Office furniture and equipment 10 to17 -
Computers 33.33 -
Asset retirement obligation 10.00 -

gain or loss related to the sale of an item of property, plant and equipment is calculated as the difference between the resources 
received in the transaction and the net value of the asset and it is recognized within the income or loss of the year. 

d. Borrowing costs - Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use, are added to the cost of those 
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment or specified borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets 
is deducts from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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When the consideration transferred by the Entity in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of 
the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as 
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement 
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the measurement period (which 
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Entity´s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to 
fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Entity obtains control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized 
in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognized 
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate If that interest were 
disposed of.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement 
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as 
equity is not re-measured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent 
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is re-measured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with IAS 37, 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognized in 
profit or loss in accordance with IAS 18, Income.

1. Financial liabilities - Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at FVTPL or other financial liabilities.

- Financial liabilities at FVTpl

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is either held far trading or it is designated as 
at FVTPL. 
A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or 
• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Entity manages together 

and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 
• It is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument. 

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition 
if:

• such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would 
otherwise arise; or 

• the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and 
its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Entity’s documented risk management 
or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

• It forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 permits the entire combined 
contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on re-measurement recognized in profit or 
loss. The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and is included in the 
other gains and losses line item. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 15.

other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including borrowings and trade and other payables) are initially recognized at the net of fair value and 
the transaction costs. Subsequently, other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

j. impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill - At the end of each reporting period, the Entity reviews the 
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered 
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Entity 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent 
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are 
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least 
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less cost to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately 
in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revaluated amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation decrease.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to 
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. 
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

k. Business acquisition - Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred 
in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the 
assets transferred by the Entity, liabilities incurred by the Entity to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests 
issued by the Entity in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognized in profit or 1oss 
as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair value, except that:

i. Defined tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are recognized and 
measured in accordance with IAS 12, Income Taxes, and IAS 19, Employee Benefits, respectively;

ii. Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment 
arrangements of the Entity entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in 
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and

iii. Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets held for 

Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination 
occurs, the Entity reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts 
are adjusted during the measurement period, or additional assets or liabilities are recognized, to reflect new information obtained 
about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognized 
at that date.

The measurement period starts on the acquisition date until the Entity obtains complete information about the facts and 
circumstances that existed at the date of acquisition which should be a maximum of one year.
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- Fair value hedges

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recognized in profit or 
loss immediately, together with any changes in the fair value at the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the 
hedged risk. The change in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the change in the hedged item attributable to 
the hedged risk are recognized in profit or loss in the line item relating to the hedged item. 

hedge accounting is discontinued when the Entity revokes the hedging relationship, when the hedging instrument 
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or when it no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. The fair value adjustment 
to the carrying amount of the hedged item arising from the hedged risk is amortized to profit or loss from that date.

- hedges of net investments in foreign operations

hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss on 
the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion or the hedge is recognized in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated under the heading of foreign currency translation reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective 
portion is recognized immediately in profit or loss, and is included in the other gains and losses line item. 

gains and losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge accumulated in the foreign 
currency translation reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign operation.

Debt and equity financial instruments are classified as financial liabilities or as equity in conformity with the respective 
contract

- embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in nan-derivative hast contracts are treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition 
of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the contracts are 
not measured at FVTPL.

n. provisions - Provisions are recognized for current obligations that arise from a past event, that will probably result in the use of 
economic resources, and that can be reasonably estimated.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end 
of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured 
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when 
the effect of the time value of money is material).

When recovery, from a third party, of some or all economic benefits required to settle a provision is expected, an account 
receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that the disbursement will be recovered and the receivable may be 
valued reliably.

o. provision for environment remediation - The Entity has policies designed to protect the environment in accordance to the 
laws and regulations framework. however, due to the regular activities of the subsidiaries, there are operations which impact 
the environment. As such, the Entity develops remediation plans (in most of the cases such plans are approved by the respective 
authorities) that require the estimation of expenses that will be incurred with the purpose of remediate the footprint in the 
environment.

Such estimate is modified based on: changes in the physical conditions of the affected work area during the mining activities, 
changes in environment protection laws and regulations, changes in material prices and required services to remediate the area 
and changes in the criteria followed to determine the needed work to be realized to remediate the affected area. 

The fair value of the liability related to the asset retirement obligation is recognized in the period in which the liability is incurred. 
The liability equals the present value of the expected cost of retirement using a discount rate of 7%. The respective retirement 
costs are capitalized as part of the value of the related long term assets. The retirement costs are depreciated on a straight line 
method based on the estimated useful lives.

derecognition of financial liabilities 

The Entity derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Entity’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. 
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is 
recognized in profit or loss.

m. derivatives financial instruments - The Entity enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure 
to a) foreign exchange rate risks and b) fluctuation in metal prices risk. Further details of derivative financial instruments are 
disclosed in Note 16.

When derivatives are contracted with the purpose of risk coverage and all the coverage requirements are met, it is documented 
their designation at the beginning of the coverage period. Such documentation must include the objective, characteristics, 
accounting and the method of measurement of the operation effectiveness.

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently re-
measured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss immediately 
unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit 
or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. Entity assigns certain derivatives as coverage to fair value of assets 
or liabilities or coverage at fair value, predicted transactions coverage with high probability or foreign currency risk coverage.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognized as a financial asset while a derivative with negative fair value is recognized 
as a financial liability. A derivative is presented as a long term asset or liability if the maturity date of the instrument is 12 months 
or more and the realization or cancellation is not expected within those 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current 
assets or liabilities.

- hedge accounting

The Entity designates certain hedging instruments, which include derivatives, embedded derivatives and non-derivatives 
in respect of foreign currency risk, as either fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of net investments in foreign 
operations. hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Entity documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and 
the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. 
Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Entity documents whether the hedging instrument 
is highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk. 

Note 15 sets out details of the fair values of the derivative instruments used for hedging purposes.

- cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges 
is recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of cash flow hedging reserve. The 
gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in profit or loss, and is included in the other 
gains and losses line item. 

Amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit 
or loss in the periods when the hedged item is recognized in profit or loss, in the same line as the recognized hedged 
item. however, when the hedged forecast transaction results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-
financial liability, the gains and losses previously recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or 
non-financial liability.

hedge accounting is discontinued when the Entity revokes the hedging relationship, when the hedging instrument 
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or when it no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any gain or loss 
recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognized 
when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognized in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected 
to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
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- Revenue related to the sales of concentrates of lead - silver, zinc, copper and “dore” are recognized in the period in which 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the inventories are transferred to customers, which generally coincides when the 
inventories are delivered or shipped to customers and the customer assumes responsibility for them in accordance to 
the terms and conditions of the related contracts. 

- Certain contracts related to the sale of concentrates and dore, consider subsequent adjustments related to the future 
prices which are known after the delivery of the product and also adjustments related to the metal content in the 
concentrates. Revenue is recognized at the moment in which the risks and benefits are transferred using an estimated 
price and the best estimate of the metal content based on metallurgical analysis. The risk in price is considered as an 
embedded derivative, as such, it is not considered within the sale contract in accordance with IAS 39. Estimated price 
of metal is re measured at each reporting date in accordance to the sale price for the period as stated in the contract. 
The estimated price can be determined based on the metal prices in the international markets such as the London Metal 
Exchange (LME) or the New york Mercantile Exchange and Commodity Exchange, Inc. (COMEX). The re-measurement of 
the prices and the subsequent adjustment related to the estimated metal content are recognized in the sales within the 
statement of comprehensive income once the metallurgical analysis has being concluded, the contract conditions have 
been met and the payments terms has been agreed.

s. Translation of foreign currency - The individual financial statements of each subsidiary of the Entity are prepared using 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Entity operates (functional currency). For purposes of these 
consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each entity are expressed in Mexican pesos which are the 
reporting currency of the Entity.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual subsidiary, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional 
currency (foreign currencies) are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of 
each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. 
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at 
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

- exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

- exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither 
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognized 
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Entity’s foreign operations are 
translated into Currency units using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are 
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which 
case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any; are recognized in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Entity’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving 
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over a jointly controlled 
entity that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant influence over an associate that includes a 
foreign operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners 
of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the Entity losing control over the subsidiary, the 
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognized in 
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or jointly controlled entities that do not result in the 
Entity losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated change differences is reclassified 
to profit or loss. 

p. income tax - Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. The tax currently payable 
is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that 
are never taxable or deducible. The Entity’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are 
generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible 
temporary differences can be utilized. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference 
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a 
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Entity is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and 
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible 
temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that 
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is 
settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 
the reporting period.

Current and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognized in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the 
tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

q. employee benefits – Costs related to direct benefits and the payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are 
recognized as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

The liability from seniority premiums to all personnel and pension plans to personnel outside the union and severance payments 
are considered in defined benefits, the cost of such benefits is determined using the Projected unit Credit Method, with actuarial 
valuations being carried out at the end of each reporting period. Actuarial gains and losses are immediately recognized within the 
comprehensive income net of the respective deferred tax in conformity to the net asset or liability recognized in the consolidated 
statement of financial position to reflect the excess or deficit of the benefits plan. Additionally, the interest cost and the expected 
gain for interest in the assets of the plan are presented as net effect of interest which is calculated using the discount rate of the 
net asset or liability for defined benefits. Costs for past services are recognized in the comprehensive income as the benefits are 
acquired at the end of each reporting period.

The retirement benefit obligation recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position represents the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation as adjusted for unrecognized actuarial gains and losses and unrecognized past service cost, and as 
reduced by the fair value of plan assets. Any asset resulting from this calculation is limited to unrecognized actuarial losses and 
past service cost, plus the present value of available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the plan.

r. Revenue recognition - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced 
for estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances. Revenue is recognized under the following criteria:
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f. Mineral Reserves: Entity periodically evaluates judgments and estimations to determine the reserves and mineral resources 
based on the methods and standards recognized in the mining industry and are performed by internal specialized personnel 
supported on historical experience. Reports that support such estimates are prepared periodically. Entity reviews annually such 
estimates.

There are various reasons to estimate the mineral reserves. The assumptions that are valid at the time of the estimation could 
significantly change when the new information is available. Changes in quotes of metal prices, exchange rates, productions 
costs, estimates of metallurgical recoverability or in the discount rates could modify the economic status of the reserves and 
finally could result in need to update the reserves analysis.

g. asset retirement obligation: Estimated costs of retirement of mining units due to legal obligations that require operative sites 
restoration are recognized at the present value in the period in which they occurred. Estimated costs of restoration include 
retirement of structures, mining rehabilitation, tailings dams, retirement of plant, operative facilities, sanitation and reforestation 
of affected areas.

Retirement and restoration provisions are valuated at present value at the moment in which the obligation is recognized and it 
is based on the understanding of the legal requirements and the Entity´s polity of social responsibility. Environment costs are 
estimated using specialists supported in studies prepared by external specialists. Management uses judgment and experience 
to estimate the costs of retirement during the useful lives of the mine.

Current costs incurred in future periods could differ from the amounts recorded. Additionally, future changes could affect the legal 
environment and applicable regulations, the changes in estimated useful lives of the mine and the discount rate could affect the 
value of the provision.

h. employee benefits: Assumptions are used to determine the best estimate in the benefits on annual basis. Such estimates and 
the assumptions are established jointly with the independent actuaries on an annual basis. Assumptions include demographic 
hypothesis, discount rates and the expected increases in the salaries among other. Even it is considered that the assumptions 
used are appropriate, changes in them could affect the value of the assets (liabilities) in plan benefits and the statement of 
comprehensive income of the period.

i. development of mining projects: Entity evaluates the status of the different projects that have as objective the exploration 
and localization of new mineral deposits, its development and the construction of new mining units until the project could be 
exploited. Entity makes judgments and prepares estimates to determine when a project has concluded the stage of exploration of 
mining resources and the stage of development and production has begun. Some of these assumptions in the evaluations refer 
to the determination of economic reserves of mineral that justified the finance viability of the project, the level of investment, the 
budgets, conclusions of testing periods of the mine and of the plant, among other. The determination of the different phases of the 
project impact in a significant way its accounting due to the exploration stages the costs and expenses are directly recognized 
in the statement of comprehensive income while during the development stage the costs and expenses are capitalized until the 
production stage is authorized.

7. Business acquisiTion

a. On December 14, 2012, the Entity acquired the total shares of AuRico. Such transaction was recorded using the purchase 
method. Results of such transaction have been included within the consolidated financial statements as of the acquisition date. 
The amount of the transaction was u.S. $723 million dollars.

 Costs related to the acquisition have been excluded from the transferred transaction and have been recognized as an expense 
of the period.

goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets and liabilities acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation 
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each 
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognized in all other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity.

t. earnings per share - Basic earnings per common share are calculated by dividing consolidated net income of controlling 
interest by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year.

6. cRiTical JudgMenTs in applying accounTing policies

In the application of the accounting policies of the Entity (see Note 5); management makes judgments, estimates and assumptions related 
to some important assets and liabilities of the financial statements. The estimates and assumptions associated are based on the historical 
experience and other factors which are considered as relevant. The real results could be different from such estimates.

The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on a regular basis. The reviews to the accounting estimates are recognized in the review 
and future period if the results of the review affects the current period an also subsequent periods.

Critical accounting judgments and key sources of uncertainty in the estimates as of the date of the consolidated financial statements 
that have a significant risk of resulting in adjustments in the book values of assets and liabilities during the following financial period 
are as follows:

a. property, plant and equipment: The Entity reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of 
each annual period to determine the depreciation of such assets. The useful lives are determined in accordance to technical 
studies prepared by internal specialized personnel and external specialists. useful lives are periodically reviewed and are based 
on the current conditions of the assets and the estimate of the period in which they will continue generating economics benefits. 
During 2012 and 2011, based on the detailed analysis, management made some modifications to the useful lives in certain 
components of the property, plant and equipment. uncertainty level of to the estimates of useful lives is related to the changes 
in market, utilization of the assets for the productions volumes and the technological development.

b. impairment of long-lived assets in use: The Entity reviews the carrying amounts of long-lived assets in use when an 
impairment indicator suggests that such amounts might not be recoverable, considering the greater of the present value of future 
net cash flows or the net sales price upon disposal. Impairment is recorded when the carrying amounts exceed the greater of the 
aforementioned amounts. Impairment indicators considered for these purposes are, among others, operating losses or negative 
cash flows in the period if they are combined with a history or projection of losses, depreciation and amortization charged to 
results, which in percentage terms in relation to revenues are substantially higher than those of previous years, obsolescence, 
reduction in the demand for the products manufactured, competition and other legal and economic factors. The impairment loss 
on the value of long-lived assets in use, as well as its reversal, are classified in the same cost and expense line items where the 
related depreciation or amortization associated with those assets are recognized.

c. allowance for slow movement in materials and spare parts inventories: Entity uses estimates to determine the allowance 
of inventories. Factors used in the allowance of materials and spare parts are obsolescence of spare parts as a consequence of 
the substitution of machines and equipment for more efficient technologies. Another factor considered is the slow movement of 
materials and spare parts for changes in the production processes.

d. contingencies: Due to the nature of the activities, the Entity is exposed to transactions or contingency events on which uses 
professional judgments in the development of estimates. Factors considered in these estimates are the current legal situation as 
of the date of the estimate and the opinion of legal advisors. Such revisions are considered on a periodical basis.

e. Valuation of financial instruments: As described in Note 16, the Entity uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are 
not based on observable market data to estimate the fair value of certain types of financial instruments. Note 15 provide detailed 
information about the key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of financial instruments, as well as the detailed 
sensitivity analysis for these assumptions. The directors believe that the chosen valuation techniques and assumptions used are 
appropriate to determining the fair value of financial instruments.
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9. accounTs ReceiVaBle

 2012 2011
January 1,

2011

Clients $ 618,478 $ 747,294 $ 673,547
Sundry debtors 47,601 98,212 30,233
Recoverable income tax 468,999 327,883 405,709
Recoverable VAT 1,433,291 454,459 192,599
Recoverable flat tax 202 - 44,169
Other recoverable taxes 17,550 17,542 17,542
Other  396  470  342

$ 2,586,517 $ 1,645,860 $ 1,364,141

accounts receivable from clients

Due to the nature and diversity of the development stages of the projects, there is not an average credit period. There are no 
charges for interest. Entity has not recognized an allowance for doubtful accounts since it is not needed due to the nature of 
the business.

Accounts receivable from clients presented above do not include amounts due at the end of the period. For this reason, the 
Entity has not recognized any allowance for doubtful accounts. The Entity does not hold any credit enhancements over such 
balances and does not have legal right of compensation against any amount due to the counterparty.

10. inVenToRy  

2012 2011
January 1,

2011

Materials and spare parts $ 2,511,503 $ 1,286,585 $ 1,272,673
Concentrates and dore 70,088 102,307 25,502
Allowance for slow moving inventory  (25,728)  (17,538)  (17,330)

$ 2,555,863 $ 1,371,354 $ 1,280,845

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, there were no inventory write-offs.

Movement in the allowance for slow moving inventory:

2012 2011

Beginning balance $ 17,538 $ 17,330
Period increases  8,190  208

Balance at the end of the year $ 25,728 $ 17,538

b. aurico´s assets and liabilities as of the acquisition date.

December 31, 2012
Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 57,406
Accounts receivable 317,854

Inventory 519,891
Prepaid expenses 35,495
Property, plant and equipment 1,973,971
Mining development costs and intangibles 4,309,904

Liabilities:
Suppliers and other (270,203)
Deferred tax and other liabilities  (340,683)

Net assets value $ 6,603,635

c. goodwill

2012

Purchase price $ 9,224,323
Net assets value (6,603,635)

$ 2,620,688

goodwill arising from the acquisitions is due to the consideration paid for the synergies expected from the combination, increase 
in revenue and development of future markets. Those benefits are not recognized separately in the goodwill due to the criteria of 
recognition is not met in the identified intangible assets.

As of December 31, 2012, the Entity evaluated the recoverable goodwill amount and no impairment was determined.

8. cash, ResTRicTed cash and cash equiValenTs

 2012 2011
January 1,

2011

Cash $ $40,308 $ 17,503 $ 1,730,871
Restricted cash (1) 97,589 2,127,173 2,954,871
Cash equivalents:

Investments in uS dollars 1,003,443 2,353,594 4,980
governmental bonds 237,519 363,086 1,592,672
Other investments - - 56,738

$ $1,378,859 $ 4,861,356 $ 6,340,132

(1) Restricted cash is due to derivative financial instruments as mentioned in Note 16.
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11. pRopeRTy, planT and equipMenT

Balance as of
January 1, 2012 Additions

Additions due to 
business

acquisitions Disposals Impairment effect Assets capitalization Reclassification Translation effects

Balances as of 
december 31, 

2012
investment:

Land $ 151,752 $ - $ 84,180 $ (3,035) $ - $ 13,922 $ - $ (9,053) $ 237,766
Building and constructions 1,637,630 - 219,771 (47,545) - 475,638 - (531,959) 1,753,535
Machinery and equipment 6,046,431 - 3,128,001 (264,014) - 2,658,878 - (518,006) 11,051,290
Office furniture and equipment 23,250 - 23,085 (3,988) - (5,947) - (8,961) 27,439
Computers 31,103 - 46,413 (32) - 1,247 - (1,023) 77,708
Vehicles 138,504 - 53,555 (4,366) - 50,357 - (10,548) 227,502
Spare parts 22,640 104 - - - - - (149) 22,595
Constructions in process 8,603,391 10,471,356 62,790 (640) - (3,194,095) 26,038 (912,982) 15,055,858
Asset for retirement obligation  248,538  63,617 - - - - -  3,427  315,582

Total investment 16,903,239 10,535,077 3,617,795 (323,620) - - 26,038 (1,989,254) 28,769,275
depreciation:

Building and constructions (427,019) (77,492) (78,722) 27,311 (17,547) - - 92,701 (480,768)
Machinery and equipment (3,002,754) (644,477) (1,470,181) 217,316 14,188 - - 145,330 (4,740,578)
Office furniture and equipment 3,204 (17,362) (15,247) 1,036 (93) - - 23,189 (5,273)
Computers 8,379 (6,552) (43,191) 31 (75) - - 41,800 392
Vehicles (52,998) (16,547) (36,483) 3,647 (184) - - 59,017 (43,548)
Asset for retirement obligation  (21,180)  (14,746) - - - - -  (15,019)  (50,945)

Total accumulated depreciation  (3,492,368)  (777,176)  (1,643,824)  249,341  (3,711) - -  347,018  (5,320,720)

Net investment $ 13,410,871 $ 9,757,901 $ 1,973,971 $ (74,279) $ (3,711) $ - $ 26,038 $ (1,642,236) $ 23,448,555

Balance as of
January 1,2011 Additions

Additions due to 
business

acquisitions Disposals Impairment effect Assets capitalization Reclassification Translation effects

Balances as of 
December 31, 

2011
investment:

Land $ 139,123 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 2,648 $ - $ 9,982 $ $151,752
Building and constructions 1,254,026 - - - - 162,819 - 220,785 1,637,630
Machinery and equipment 3,766,201 - - (61,659) - 1,554,238 (4,534) 792,185 6,046,431
Office furniture and equipment 29,759 - - - - 2,767 - (9,275) 23,250
Vehicles 83,022 - - (1,979) - 35,299 - 22,161 138,504
Computers 25,458 - - (25) - 4,010 - 1,660 31,103
Spare parts - - - - - - 22,640 - 22,640
Constructions in process 1,923,166 8,069,734 - - - (1,761,781) (180,248) 552,520 8,603,391
Asset for retirement obligation 238,950 - - (6,921) - - - 16,509 248,538

Total investment 7,459,705 8,069,734 - (70,584) - - (162,142) 1,606,526 16,903,239
depreciation:

Building and constructions (376,259) (88,745) - - (861) - - 38,845 (427,019)
Machinery and equipment (2,114,386) (358,605) - 16,994 (36,828) - - (509,929) (3,002,754)
Office furniture and equipment (8,896) (1,128) - - - - - 13,228 3,204
Computers (12,814) (6,048) - 25 - - - 27,216 8,379
Vehicles (38,029) (20,005) - 634 (38) - - 4,440 (52,998)
Asset for retirement obligation  (22,071)  (9,105) - - - - -  9,996  (21,180)

Total accumulated depreciation  (2,272,455)  (483,635) -  17,653  (37,727) - -  (416,204)  (3,492,368)
Net investment $ 4,887,249 $ 7,586,099 $ - $ (52,931) $ (37,727) $ - $ (162,142) $ 1,190,322 $ 13,410,871

Reclassifications are mainly due to movements between constructions in process and mining development.
Above balances include capitalized interest for $ 225,234 and $ 52,400 in 2012 and 2011, respectively.
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investment:

Mining 
development 

cost goodwill

Derivative
 financial

 instruments
Joint

 venture Total
Beginning balance as of
   January 1, 2011 $ 428,951 $ - $ 1,528,622 - $ 1,957,573

Reclassification from 
constructions in process 180,248 - - - 180,248

Additions or disposals 170,370 - - - 170,370
Period valuation - - (265,691) - (265,691)
Translation effect (208,247) - - - (208,247)

Balance as of December 31, 2011 571,322 - 1,262,931 - 1,834,253

Additions or disposals 344,948 - - 344,477 689,425
Period valuation - - (1,232,141) - (1,232,141)
Additions due to business 

acquisition 5,231,132 2,620,688 - - 7,851,820
translation effect 62,852 - - - 62,852

Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ 6,210,254 $ 2,620,688 $ 30,790 344,477 $ 9,206,209

accumulated amortization:

Mining 
development

costs
Balance as of January 1, 2011 $ (167,373)

Amortization (248,472)
Translation effect 143,214

Balance as of December 31, 2011 (272,631)

Amortization (237,726)
Additions due to business 

acquisition (958,058)
Translation  effect (156,520)

Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ (1,624,935)

14. Finance Risks ManageMenT 

The Entity is exposed to a number of financial risks, including market risk (which encompasses foreign exchange, interest rate and price 
risks, credit risk and liquidity risks. The Entity seeks to minimize the potential negative effects of these risks on its financial performance 
through an overall risk management program. The Entity uses derivative financial instruments to hedge against some exposures to 
financial risks. use of the financial instruments is done under the Entity´s policy approved by the Board of Directors which establishes the 
principles to contract such instruments. Compliance by the Entity’s management with established policies and exposure limits is reviewed 
by internal audit on an ongoing basis. Corporate treasury reports quarterly to the Risk Management Committee, which is part of the Board 
of Directors, responsible for monitoring risks and the policies implemented to mitigate risk exposures.

a. capital risk management - The Entity manages its capital to ensure that subsidiaries will be able to continue as going concerns 
while maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance. The capital structure of 
the Entity consists of the net debt (mainly marketable notes and loans from financial institutions as described in Note 18) and 
equity (comprising issued capital, reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interest as detailed in Note 20) The Entity is 
not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

12. inVesTMenTs in Mining concessions, neT

 
Average

useful live 2012 2011
January 1,

2011
Mining concessions 6.1 $ 467,418 $ 373,144 $ 309,331

2012 2011
Beginning balance $ 373,144 $ 309,331

Additions 4,173 22,535
Additions due to business acquisitions 35,228 -
Translation effect  54,309  41,278

Balance at the end of the year $ 467,418 $ 373,144

13. oTheR asseTs

Other assets are comprised as follows:

useful
lives 2012 2011

January 1,
2011

goodwill (2) $ 2,620,688 $ - $ -
Derivative financial instruments N/A 30,790 1,262,931 1,528,622
Joint venture N/A  344,477 - -

 2,995,955  1,262,931  1,528,622

Mining development costs (1) $ 6,210,254 $ 571,322 $ 428,951
Accumulated amortization  (1,624,935)  (272,631) (167,373)

4,585,319 298,691  261,578

$ 7,581,274 $ 1,561,622 $ 1,790,200

(1) Mining development costs are amortized during the useful lives of the mine using straight line method based on the proved and 
probable mineral reserves of the mine .

(2) It is not subject to amortization. Impairment analysis is performed.
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d. liquidity risk management - ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Corporative Treasury, which 
has established an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Entity´s short-, medium-and 
long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, 
banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching 
the maturity profiles of finial assets and liabilities. 

The following tables detail the Entity’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities with agreed 
repayments periods.

Amounts included in the loans from financial institutions, marketable notes and related parties including instruments at fixed and 
variable interest rates are detailed in Note 18. Liabilities at variable interest rate are subject of changes if the changes in interest 
rates differ from those estimates at fair value calculated at the end of the period.

Entity expects pay its obligations using cash flows from operation and resources that are received at maturity of financial assets. 
Additionally, Entity has access to credit lines with financial institutions and marketable notes programs.

Average 
effective

As of December 31, 2012 interest rate 3 months More than 3 years Total

Liability for marketable notes 4.62% $ 7,700,000 $ - $ 7,700,000
Liability due to financial 

institutions 3.56%              - 14,311,110 14,311,110
Interest due to financial 

institutions - 25,087 25,087
Due to related parties 815,903 - 815,903
Suppliers  653,394 -  653,394

Total  9,169,297  14,336,197  23,505,494

Cash equivalents:
In Mexican pesos 4.38 % $ 237,519 $ - $ 237,519
In uS dollars 0.16 % 1,003,443 - 1,003,443
Accounts receivable from  
   clients 618,478 618,478
Due from related parties  494,202 -  494,202

Total  2,353,642 -  2,353,642

$ (6,815,655) $ $ (14,336,197) $ (21,151,852)

On a monthly basis, Entity´s risk management committee reviews the capital structure and the borrowing costs and their 
relationship with EBITDA. This is performed when the finance projections are presented as part of the business plan to the Board 
of Directors of the Entity. The Entity has a practice of maintaining debt lower than three times EBITD determined as proportion of 
the net debt over EBITDA of the last 12 months.

Debt ratio at the end of each period is as follows: 

2012 2011

Loans from financial institutions $ 22,011,110 $ 8,350,000
Cash and cash equivalents  1,378,859  4,861,356
Net loans from financial institutions 20,632,251 3,488,644

EBITDA  3,656,988  4,130,318

Debt ratio  5.64%  0.84%

EBITDA $ 3,656,988 $ 4,130,318

Interest generated by debt (1)  495,829 658,461

Interest coverage ratio  7.38% 6.27%

(1) Includes capitalized interest in property, plant and equipment for $ 225,234 and $ 52,400 in 2012 and 2011, respectively.

b. interest rate risk management - The Entity is exposed to interest rate risk because subsidiaries in the Entity borrow funds 
at floating interest rates. The risk is managed by the Entity by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate 
borrowings.

The Entity’s exposures to interest rates mainly refer to interest rates in national currency and uS dollars over the finance assets 
and liabilities. The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates of the long term debt not 
paid, supported in variable interest rates. Analysis is prepared assuming that the amount of the final liability of the period has 
been the liability during all the year. Entity informs to the Board of directors about the risk in the interest rate.

If interest rates would have an increase or decrease of 100 points in each period and all the variables would have been constant, 
the income before taxes in the periods 2012 and 2011 would (decrease) increase in approximately $82.7 and $47.7 million of 
Mexican pesos, respectively.

c. credit risk management - Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Entity. This risk is mainly due to accounts receivable due from clients and due to liquid funds. Credit risk on 
cash, cash equivalents and derivative financial instruments is limited due to the counterparties are banks with high credit rating 
assigned by qualified credit agencies. The highest risk exposure is represented by the balance in each financial asset mainly the 
commercial accounts receivable. Entity sells its products and services to different clients in different economical environments 
such as Mexico, Asia, Europe and united States of America which have showed solvency. Entity evaluates periodically the 
financial conditions of its clients. Entity believes there is a significant risk of losing the credit concentration in its clients. Entity 
also considers its potential credit risk is adequately covered for the high credit rating of the counterparties.



- MINERA FRISCO 79 -- MINERA FRISCO 2012 -

Market risk exposures are measured using value-at-risk (VaR) supplemented by sensitivity analysis.

There has been no change to the Entity’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which these risks are managed and measured.

f. categories of financial instruments

2012 2011
January 1,

2011
Financial assets

Cash $ 1,378,859 $ 4,861,356 $ 6,340,132
Clients 618,478 747,294 673,547
Accounts receivable due from related parties 494,202 612,004 266,058
Derivative financial instruments  60,615  1,989,111  1,575,719

Total $ 2,552,154 $ 8,209,765 $ 8,855,456

Financial liabilities
Loans from financial institutions $ 22,011,110 $ 8,350,000 $ -
Suppliers 653,394 250,534 214,569
Accounts payables to related parties 815,903 170,390 545,913
Negotiation derivative financial instruments 126,223 221,571 -
Derivatives financial instruments 300,519 2,433,334 4,274,619
Long term debt to related parties - -  12,616,045

Total $ 23,907,149 $ 11,425,829 $ 17,651,146

15. FaiR Value oF Financial insTRuMenTs

Fair value of financial instruments presented below is determined by Entity using available information in the market or other valuation 
techniques which require judgment to develop and interpret the fair value estimates. Additionally, uses assumptions based on the market 
conditions that exist as of the balance sheet. Consequently, estimated amounts presented are not necessarily indicative of the amounts 
that Entity could realize in an interchange in the current market. use of different assumptions and / or methods of estimation could have 
a material effect in the fair value estimated amounts.

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped 
into levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

• Level 1: fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities;

• Level 2: fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable 
for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

• Level 3: fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability

Amounts of cash, cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable to third and related parties and the current and non-current 
portion of loans from financial institutions are approximated to their fair value since they have short term maturity. Long term debt is 
recorded to the amortized cost and consists in the amount of debt which generates interest at fixed and variable interest rates related to 
market indicators.

To obtain and disclosure the fair value of the long term debt, Entity uses prices from market for similar instruments. To determine the fair 
value of other financial instruments, the Entity uses techniques as estimated cash flows considering cash flow dates in the time curves of 
market and discounted such flows with rates that reflect the counterparty risk and the Entity´s risk in the period of reference. Fair value 
of swaps of interest rates is calculated as the fair value of the net cash flows estimated to the future. Fair value of the future foreign 
exchange is determined using future exchange rates at the date of the statement of financial position.

Average 
effective

As of December 31, 2011 interest rate 3 months More than 3 years Total

Liability for marketable notes 4.63% $ 8,350,000 $ - $ 8,350,000
Due to related parties 170,390 - 170,390
Suppliers  250,534 -  250,534

Total  8,770,924 -  8,770,924

Cash equivalents:
In Mexican pesos 4.47 % $ 363,086 $ - $ 363,086
In uS dollars 0.16 % 2,353,594 - 2,353,594
Accounts receivable from  
   clients 747,294 - 747,294
Due from related parties  612,004 -  612,004

Total  4,075,948 -  4,075,948

$ (4,694,976) $ - $ (4,694,976)

Average 
effective Between

As of January 1, 2011 interest rate 3 months 2 and 3 years Total

Long term debt with related 
parties 4.25% $ - $ 12,616,045 $ 12,616,045

Due to related parties 545,913 - 545,913
Suppliers  214,569 -  214,569

Total $ 760,482 $ 12,616,045 $ 13,376,527

Cash equivalents:
In Mexican pesos 4.53 % $ 1,649,410 $ - $ 1,649,410
In uS dollars 0.25 % 4,980 - 4,980
Accounts receivable from 
   clients 673,547 673,547
Due from related parties  266,058 -  266,058

 2,593,995 -  2,593,995

Total $ 1,833,513 $ (12,616,045) $ (10,782,532)

e. Market risk - The Entity’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and 
interest rates. The Entity enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to foreign currency risk 
and interest rate risk, including:

1. Forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge the exchange rate risk arising on the export of mining products and other 
currencies loans.

2. Forward, swaps and collars (options) in metal prices (gold, silver, lead, zinc and copper), to mitigate the price 
fluctuation risk

3. Forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge the exchange rate risk arising on translation of the Entity’s investment in 
a foreign operation with a functional currency different to Mexican pesos.
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The balances of financial instruments per category and their estimated fair value as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 and January 1, 
2011 are as follows:

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011  January 1, 2011 
Book value Fair value Book value Fair value Book value Fair value

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (1) $ $1,378,859 $ 1,378,859 $ 4,861,356 $ 4,861,356 $ 6,340,132 $ 6,340,132

loans and accounts receivable:
Clients (2) 618,478 618,478 747,294 747,294 673,547 673,547
Due from related parties (2) 494,202 494,202 612,004 612,004 266,058 266,058
Accounts payable (2) 1,469,297 1,469,297 420,924 420,924 760,482 760,482
Loan from financial institutions including current portion of long term debt (1) 14,311,110 14,311,110 - - - -
Marketable notes (1) 7,700,000 7,690,110 8,350,000 8,322,109 - -
Long term accounts payable to related parties(2) - - - - 12,616,045 12,616,045

derivatives appointed as coverage instruments:
Forwards, swaps and collars of metal(2) 239,904 239,904 444,223 444,223 2,698,900 2,698,900

derivatives not appointed as coverage instruments:
Swap (2) 126,223 126,223 221,571 221,571 - -

Total $ 21,354,995 $ 21,345,105 $ 3,216,064 $ 3,188,173 $ 8,795,690 $ 8,795,690

(1)      Level 1
(2)      Level 2

Fair value presented as of December 31, 2012 do not differ from the net value in books due to the observed values in market are similar 
to the recorded in the period. During the period there were not transfers between level 1 and 2.

16. deRiVaTiVe Financial insTRuMenTs

The objectives of entered into derivative financial instruments agreements are: (i) to reduce exposure to the risk of metal prices 
fluctuations or (ii) expectation of a good economic performance due to the behavior of the underlying asset. The decision of enter into 
a financial instrument agreement depends on the market conditions, the expectation of such financial instrument to a given date and 
the international and national economic context of the economic indicators that have influence in the Company´s activities. Company´s 
operations with derivative financial instruments are held mainly with hedging purposes.

As of December 31, 2012 the Company has the following derivative financial instruments operations:

 Notional Valuation as of December 31, 2012

Instrument Type
Amount  

(´000) unit Maturity Asset (liability)

(Income) loss in 
comprehensive 

financial cost

(Income) 
loss in 

liquidation

Dollar forward Negotiation Purchase 3,171,500 uS Dollars During 2012 $ - $ - $ (170,914)
Dollar forward Negotiation sale 6,768,500 uS Dollars During 2012 - - $ (2,396,563)
Dollar forward Negotiation sale 509,000 uS Dollars February 2013  (126,223)  126,223 -

Total $ (126,223) $ 126,223 $ (2,567,477)



- MINERA FRISCO 83 -- MINERA FRISCO 2012 -

Open and closed operations with forwards and swaps of metal prices with hedging purposes, as of December 31, 2012 are:

  Notional Valuation as of December 31, 2012

Instrument Amount unit Maturity
Asset

(Liability)

Comprehensive
(income)

loss

(Income)
loss in

liquidation
sales

(Income)
loss in

liquidation

Silver forwards 10,840 Thousands of ounces During 2012 $ - $ - $ (1,389) $ 552,599
Silver collars 21,600 Thousands of ounces January to December 2013 (11,158) 7,811 - -
Silver collars 34,480 Thousands of ounces During 2012 - - (74,202) (261,998)
Rollovers and anticipated liquidations of silver 3,000 Thousands of ounces January to December 2013 - 231,279 - -
gold forwards and swaps 90 Thousands of ounces January 2012 to December 2013 (166) 276,366 - -
gold forwards and swaps 562 Thousands of ounces During 2012 - - 533,551 2,951,675
gold collars 636 Thousands of ounces January 2012 to December 2014 (228,580) 160,005 - -
gold collars 120 Thousands of ounces During 2012 - - 124,246 23,825
Rollovers and anticipated liquidations of silver 269 Thousands of ounces January 2013 to September 2014 - 606,122 - -
Copper forwards and swaps 4,309 Tons During 2012 - - 715 (20,996)
Copper forwards and swaps 3,060 Tons Anticipated recycled maturity - - - 15,440
Lead swaps 4,623 Tons Anticipated recycled maturity - - - 9,620
Zinc swaps 34,642 Tons Anticipated recycled maturity - - -  4,427

Total as of December 31, 2012 $ (239,904) $ 1,281,583 $ 582,921 $ 3,274,592

Total as of December 31, 2011 $ (444,223) $ 2,974,069 $ 1,740,576 $ 2,332,968

As of December 31, 2011 the Company has the following derivative financial instruments operations

 Notional  Valuation as of December 31, 2011

Instrument Type
Amount  

(´000) unit Maturity Assets (liability)

(Income) loss in 
comprehensive 
financing cost

(Income) 
loss in

liquidation

Dollar forward Negotiation 
Purchase 60,000 uS Dollar During 2011 $ - $ - $ 5,409

Dollar forward Negotiation Sale 2,191,000 uS Dollar During 2011 - - 1,060,808
Dollar forward Negotiation Sale 1,315,500 uS Dollar February 2012 (221,571) 221,571 -

Total $ (221,571) $ 221,571 $ 1,066,217
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Open and closed operations with forwards and swaps of metal prices with hedging purposes, as of December 31, 2011 are:

Notional Valuation as of December 31, 2011

Instrument Amount unit Maturity
Asset

(liability)

Comprehensive
(income)

loss

(Income)
Loss in

liquidation
sales

Silver forwards (1) 10,840 Thousands of ounces July and December 2013 $ 146,469 $ 563,764 $ -

Silver collars (put) (call) 56,080 Thousands of ounces January 2012 to December 2013 1,374,399 (966,801) -

Silver forwards 21,520 Thousands of ounces During 2011 - - 424,023

gold forwards and swaps  (1) 652 Thousands of ounces January 2012 to December 2013 (1,327,220) 2,952,835 -

gold collars (put) (call) 756 Thousands of ounces January 2011 to December 2014 (606,100) 424,271 -

gold forwards and swaps 299 Thousands of ounces During 2011 - - 1,062,911

Copper forwards and swaps 49,306 Tons During 2011 - - 251,850

Copper forwards and swaps Tons Anticipated maturity (14,387) - -

Lead swaps 57,700 Tons During 2011 - -  29,019

Leas forwards and swaps Tons Anticipated maturity (38,398) - -

Zinc Swaps 180,100 Tons During 2011 - - (27,227)

Zinc Swaps 81,504 Tons Anticipated maturity  21,014 - -

Total $ (444,223) $ 2,974,069 $ 1,740,576

(1) Rolling hedge strategy

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011 the fair value of the gold forwards and swaps for $(394,642) and $(1,458,843) is presented within the 
Balance Sheet, net of the cash and cash equivalents balance, due to there were margin calls to guarantee the instruments.

As of December 31, 2011, the fair value of the silver forwards for $(400,330) is presented within the Balance Sheet, net of the cash and 
cash equivalents balance, due to there were margin calls to guarantee the instruments.

As of December 31, 2011, there were anticipated liquidations resulting in an ineffectiveness effect which generated a loss of $2,332,968 
presented in the comprehensive financing cost.

17. pRoVision FoR enViRonMenT ReMediaTion

2012

Beginning 
balance Additions

Increases due 
to business 
acquisitions Payments Cancellations

Balance as 
of the end 
of the year

Provision for 
environment 
remediation $ 215,072 $ 121,011 $ 69,631 $ (4,497) $ (42,804) $ 358,413

2011

Beginning 
balance Additions

Increases due 
to business 
acquisitions Payments Cancellations

Balance as 
of the end 
of the year

Provision for 
environment 
remediation $ 207,969 $ 24,604 $ - $ - $ (17,501) $ 215,072
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19. eMployees BeneFiTs

The company has plans to make payments for retirement and dead or disability to the employees. The related liability and annual 
cost of such benefits are calculated by an independent actuary on the basis of formulas defined in the plans using the projected unit 
credit method.

Net cost for the period includes the following items:

2012 2011

Service cost $ 1,320 $ 1,308
Financing cost 507 410
Asset fund interest 86 (157)
Paid benefits  (396)  (146)

Net cost of the period $ 1,517 $ 1,415

Nominal rates used in actuarial calculations are as follows:

2012 2011
% %

Discount rate 7.00 7.00
Salary increase rate 5.67 5.57

Present value of these obligations and the rates used for the calculations are:

2012 2011

Present value of defined benefits obligation as of January 1, 2011 $ 7,529 $ 6,114
Current service cost 1,320 1,101
Past service cost - 207
Financing cost 507 410
Actuarial gain (loss) 86 (157)
Paid benefits  (396)  (146)

Present value of defined benefits obligation as of the end of the year $ 9,046 $ 7,529

20. sTockholdeRs’ equiTy

a. Common stock at par value (historical pesos) as of December 31, is as follows:

Shares Amount
Fixed capital

Series A  2,545,382 $ 74,362

18. long TeRM deBT and MaRkeTaBle noTes

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011 it is comprised as follows:

2012 2011
I. Loan from financial institutions for $1,100(1) million uS dollars bearing 

quarterly interest at 3.56%, with maturity in December 2017 $ 14,311,110 $ -

II. Marketable notes in Mexican pesos with maturity in January 2013 and 
January 2012, respectively  7,700,000  8,350,000

Total debt 22,011,110 8,350,000

Less – Current portion of loan from financial institutions  (7,700,000)  (8,350,000)

Long term debt $ 14,311,110 $ -

(1) Payments to the loan from financial institution are as follows:

2015 $ 2,862,222
2016 5,724,444
2017 5,724,444

Total $ 14,311,110

The contract of the loan from financial institutions establishes covenants which require maintaining certain minimum financial rations 
in the consolidated financial statements. The Entity complies with such covenants as of December 31, 2012. The main financial ratios 
required are:

A. The stockholders’ equity should be no less than uS $953,800 (or the equivalent in Mexican pesos)
B. Interest coverage ratio should be no less than 3.5 to 1.0.
C. EBITDA should be no less than:

i. As of December 31, 2013:  4.75 to 1.00
ii From January 1 to June 30, 2014: 3.50 to 1.00
iii From July 1 to December 2014: 3.00 to 1.00
iv From January 1, 2015 to maturity: 2.50 to 1.00

Marketable notes should be paid at maturity. Interest rate for the periods ended on December 31, 2012 and 2011 were 4.623% y 
4.624%, respectively.
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2012 2011
January 1,

2011
Due to related parties:

grupo Condumex, S.A. de C.V. $ - $ - $ 112,097
Condumex, Inc. 156,252 - 401,090
Servicios Condumex, S.A. de C.V. 18,621 - -
Logtec, S.A. de C.V. 47,233 16,046 2,198
Conductores Mexicanos Eléctricos y de 

Telecomunicaciones, S.A. de C.V. - 4,208 2,056
Sinergia Soluciones Integrales para la Construcción,
S.A. de C.V. 462,578 91,758 17,025
Carso Infraestructura y Construcción, S.A. de C.V. 1,824 2,544 -
Selmec Equipos Industriales, S.A. de C.V. 1,647 2,294 5,850
Operadora CICSA, S.A. de C.V. 123,253 48,138 2,967
Microm, S.A. de C.V. 913 3,056 1,543
uninet, S.A. de C.V. 1,431 - -
Other  2,151  2,346  1,087

$ 815,903 $ 170,390 $ 545,913

Pending amounts are not guaranteed and will be paid in cash. There are no recognized losses in the current or past period due to 
uncollectability of the amounts with related parties.

As of January 1, 2011, Entity had long term debt with related parties for $12,616,045 with a current portion of $116,715 and a non-
current portion of $12,499,330.

Transactions with related parties, carried out in the ordinary course of business were as follows:

 2012 2011

Income -
Sales $ 1,184,437 $ 1,258,133
Administrative services 7,307 11,582

Expenses -
Purchases $ 6,773,824 $ 4,027,815
Operative services 75,391 1,418,409
Exploration services 32,046 136,703
Administrative services 164,392 128,616
Insurance 108,541 89,635
Other income, net (7,200) (21,590)
Interest (gain) loss, net (1,814) 360,937

Sales of goods to related parties were realized based on metal prices in international markets. Purchases were realized using discounted 
market prices to reflect the amount of purchased goods and the relationships between related parties.

Additionally, the Entity has realized transactions with Banco Inbursa, S. A. which include loans, forwards, interest, investments and 
corporative bank services. Such transactions were performed under regular market conditions.

 Common stock consists of nominative shares Series A -1 with no-par value.

b. Pursuant to a resolution of the general extraordinary stockholders’ meeting on April 29, 2011, fixed common stock was increased 
by $7,304 through the emission of 250 million of series A-1 shares of which 242,632,864 shares were subscribed and paid with 
a price of $47 pesos each share. The amount of $0.0292145041 pesos for each share which represents a total of $7,088 was 
recorded as capital stock and the remaining $11,396,656, was recorded as additional paid-in capital.

c. Pursuant to a resolution of the general extraordinary stockholders´ meeting on June 11, 2012, payment of dividends in cash, for 
$70,000 was approved against the Net Tax Income Account (CuFIN), equivalent to $135.3473 pesos per share that were paid on 
June 19 and 20, 2012. The dividend portion that corresponds to the non-controlling interest is $6,860.

d. Pursuant to a resolution of the general ordinary stockholders’ meeting of Tayahua on April 6, 2011, payment of dividends in cash, 
for $150,000 was approved against the Net Tax Income Account (CuFIN), equivalent to $290.5918 pesos per share. The dividend 
portion that corresponds to the non-controlling interest is $73,500.

e. Retained earnings include the statutory legal reserve. The general Corporate Law requires that at least 5% of net income of the 
year be transferred to the legal reserve until the reserve equals 20% of capital stock at par value (historical pesos). The legal 
reserve may be capitalized but may not be distributed unless the entity is dissolved. The legal reserve must be replenished if it 
is reduced for any reason.  As of December 31, 2012 the legal reserve amounted $14,872. 

f. Stockholders’ equity, except for restated paid-in capital and tax retained earnings will be subject to ISR payable by the Company 
at the rate in effect upon distribution. Any tax paid on such distribution may be credited against annual and estimated ISR of the 
year in which the tax on dividends is paid and the following two fiscal years.

g. The balances of the stockholders’ equity tax accounts as of December 31 2011, are:

2012 2011
January 1,

2011

Contributed capital account $ 12,273,517 $ 11,851,600 $ 46,936
Net tax income account (CuFIN)  997,817  353,491  61,133

Total $ 13,271,331 $ 12,205,091 $ 108,069

21. TRansacTions and Balances wiTh RelaTed paRTies

Balances with related parties are as follows:

2012 2011
January 1,

2011

Due from related parties:
Cobre de México, S.A. de C.V. $ 101,021 $ 513,095 $ 193,636
Condumex, Inc. - 94,789 -
Servicios Condumex, S.A. de C.V. - 3,140 72,332
Conductores Mexicanos Eléctricos y de Telecomunica-

ciones, S.A. de C.V. 277,047 - -
Cordaflex, S.A. de C.V. 61,476 - -
Aerofrisco, S.A. de C.V. 54,633 - -
Other  25  980  90

$ 494,202 $ 612,004 $ 266,058
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2011

Concept
Cost of

sales
Sale

expenses
Administrative 

Expenses

Salaries $ 461,536 $ - $ 109,779
Materials 1,174,538 - -
Maintenance 572,286 - -
Contractors 526,691 - -
Electric energy 390,108 - -
Exploration expenses 303,932 - -
Rights and mining concessions 121,703 - -
Depreciation and amortization 732,107 - -
Inventory reserves (59,893) - -
Freights - 93,043 -
Personnel transportation - - 38,116
Management fee - - 128,722
Fees - - 14,565
Security - - 14,438
Insurance - - 8,596
Travel expenses - - 4,875
Taxes - - 43,220
Dining hall expenses - - 3,124
Other  231,457  12,790  40,249

$ 4,454,465 $ 105,833 $ 405,684

24. oTheR expenses, neT

2012 2011

Employee profit sharing $ 166,039 $ 172,039
Income for sale of junk and other materials (30,479) (23,513)
Property, plant and equipment impairment 3,711 37,727
Taxes actualization (7,654) (9,993)
Other, net  4,358  4,113

$ 135,975 $ 180,373

22. sales

 2012 2011
Sales of -

gold $ 4,197,455 $ 4,607,908
Silver 1,562,757 1,827,504
Copper 2,241,101 2,049,225
Zinc 1,162,061 1,364,493
Lead 444,509 436,012
Loss in metal prices coverage (582,921) (1,740,576)

$ 9,024,962 $ 8,544,566

23. cosT and expenses

2012

Concept
Cost of

sales
Sale

expenses
Administrative 

Expenses

Salaries $ 582,844 $ - $ 131,755
Materials 1,594,805 - -
Maintenance 646,202 - -
Contractors 378,559 - -
Electric energy 413,101 - -
Exploration expenses 450,771 - -
Rights and mining concessions 176,149 - -
Depreciation and amortization 1,014,901 - -
Inventory reserves 45,172 - -
Freights - 108,871 -
Personnel transportation - - 49,061
Management fee - - 166,809
Fees - - 18,074
Donations - - 40,000
Security - - 21,786
Insurance - - 10,782
Travel expenses - - 4,963
Taxes - - 48,195
Dining hall expenses - - 4,099
Other  289,256  13,238  37,506

$ 5,591,760 $ 122,109 $ 533,030
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Movements of the deferred income asset (liability) during the period were as follows:

2012 2011

Beginning balance $ 759,082 $ 2,584,011
ISR applied to income of the year (128,425) 20,744
ISR due to business acquisition (263,437) -
Effect of financial instruments  (583,985)  (1,845,673)

$ (216,765) $ 759,082

Income taxes and the reconciliation of the statutory and effective ISR rates, expressed in percentage, are:

2012 
%

2011 
%

Legal rate: 30 30
Plus (less) effects in permanent items:

Inflation effects (3) (6)
Nondeductible items - (1)
Plus (less) other items  4  (2)

Effective rate  31  21

The benefits of restated tax loss carry forwards for which the deferred ISR asset and tax credit, respectively, have been partially recognized, 
can be recovered subject to certain conditions. Expiration dates and restated amounts as of December 31, 2012, are:

Expiration Tax loss Recoverable
year carry forwards IMPAC

  
2013 $ 337 $ $2,585
2014 545 2,310
2015 134,692 1,653
2016 3,229 5,536
2017 4,902 17,316
2018 431,878 -
2019 1,379 -
2020 389,966 -
2021 2,307,289 -
2022  1,315,371 -

$ 4,589,588 $ 29,400

In calculating deferred ISR according to the above paragraphs, the effects of tax loss carry forwards $83,278, were included; however, 
they have been fully reserved because there is not a high probability of recovering such amounts.

25. incoMe Taxes

The Entity is subject to ISR and IETu.

The ISR rate during 2012 and 2011 was 30%. Pursuant to changes to the Federal Revenue Law for 2013, the ISR rate applicable to 
corporations during 2013 and 2014 has changed. Currently, rates will be 30% for 2013, 29% for 2014, and 28% for 2015 and thereafter.

IETu - Revenues, as well as deductions and certain tax credits, are determined based on cash flows of each fiscal year. The IETu rate is 
17.5%. The Asset Tax (IMPAC) Law was repealed upon enactment of the IETu Law; however, under certain circumstances, IMPAC paid in 
the ten years prior to the year in which ISR is paid for the first time, may be recovered, according to the terms of the law.

Income tax incurred will be the higher of ISR and IETu.

a. Income taxes are comprised as follows:

2012 2011
ISR:

Current ISR $ 289,945 $ 198,385
Deferred ISR  128,425  (20,744)

$ 418,370 $ 177,641

The main items that give rise to a deferred ISR (liability) asset are:

2012 2011
January 1,

2011

Property, plant and equipment $ (1,468,907) $ (746,485) $ (529,673)
Inventories, net 25,938 (555) 1,383
Clients - - 4,051
Deferred expenses (334,526) (13,880) -
Prepaid expenses (88,637) - -
Provision for environment remediation 56,051 26,607 20,578
Tax losses 1,351,893 774,260 366,893
Financial instruments 186,778 669,736 2,673,484
Profit sharing 51,906 51,508 42,231
Other 2,738 (2,109) 5,064

$ (216,766) $ 759,082 $ 2,584,011
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b. Consolidated net comprehensive income reconciliation:

Note

For the year ended 
December 31, 

2011 

Consolidated net income under MFRS $ 669,029

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment b,e,h (92,285)
Adjustment due to labor obligation c 1,157
Cancellation of deferred profit sharing f 14,426
Translation effect 92,427
Deferred income tax effect d  (1,994)

Consolidated net income under IFRS  682,760

Comprehensive net income under MFRS  3,873,037

Adjustment for translation of foreign currency 1,361,890
Cancellation of deferred profit sharing f 468,481
Actuarial gains for labor obligation c  123

Consolidated net income under IFRS  5,703,531

Consolidated net income of the year under IFRS $ 6,386,291

The reformulation to MFRS as of December 31, 2010 was due to the following change in the accounting policy:

a. Entity decided to change the inventory valuation method to first-in, first-out method in conformity with NIF C-4 Inventory (NIF 
C-4). Previously, Entity used last-in, last-out method. Additionally, cost includes a systematic assignation of fixed and variable 
production expenses which are realized in the productions of concentrates, copper cathodes and Dore bars. Previously, such 
production expenses were not included as part of cost of inventories.

The transition to IFRS has resulted in the following changes to accounting policies:

b. According to IAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies, inflation effects only should be recognized in a 
hyperinflationary economy which is identified due to various characteristics in the economic environment of the country. The 
most objective factor to qualify an economy as hyperinflationary is when accumulated inflation during 3 years is near or over 
100%. given that the Entity and its main subsidiaries are located within a non-hyperinflationary environment, the effects of 
inflation recognized under NIF until 2007 were cancelled for the not hyperinflationary periods, except for the assets in which the 
exemption of assumed cost of IFRS 1mentioned in the Note 2.

c. IAS 19, Employee Benefits, establishes that termination benefits refer to an obligation that arises from the termination of the 
labor relationship and not from a rendered service. As such, it could be only recorded until the payment obligation is generated 
or under the demand of the formal retirement plans. Additionally, the Entity chose to recognize the actuarial gains and losses not 
amortized at the date of transition in accordance to the voluntary exemption of IFRS 1.

d. Entity adjusted the deferred taxes in conformity with IAS 12, Income Taxes using the net value in books of assets and liabilities 
recognized under IFRS. 

e. In conformity with IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, the Entity determined the significant components of the buildings and 
equipment. As consequence, Entity adjusted the useful lives and their respective effect in the accumulated depreciation as of the 
date of transition. Additionally, capitalized the spare parts that qualify to be classified as fixed assets due to its expected to use 
them during more than a year and they are considered as a component when they are used. Previously, the Entity recognized the 
spare parts as inventory at the purchase date.

f. IAS 19, Employee Benefits, require that recognized profit sharing should refer only to current profit sharing due to it requires 
among others, that the employee had rendered services to the Entity and that the legal or assumed present obligation of payment 
must be the result of past events. Due to the above, Entity eliminated the balance of deferred profit sharing at the transition date.

26. coMMiTMenTs

The Company sells the concentrates, copper cathodes and “dore” to its clients based on sales agreements which are generally renewed 
on an annual basis. Such agreements established the conditions and references to the metal prices in international markets.

27. conTingencies

The Entity is involved in commercial, fiscal and labor legal suits. Such suits are generated during the regular activities of the business and 
are common in the industry in which the Entity is involved.

Some of the subsidiaries have legal suits which are in process with the respective authority due to various reasons. In opinion of the 
management of Entity, most of these suits will be solved in favorable way to the Entity. In case of unfavorable results, the effects will be 
immaterial to the financial position and the results of the Entity.

28. explanaTion To iFRs TRansiTion 

As mentioned in Note 2, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended  ecember 31, 2012 are the first financial statements in 
compliance with IFRS. The transition date is January 1, 2011. In connection with the preparation of the first financial statements under 
IFRS, the Entity has applied the transition rules to the previously reported balances in conformity with MFRS. As described in the Note 2 to 
the financial statements, the Entity has applied the mandatory exemptions and has elected certain optional exemptions from retrospective 
application of IFRS for its first time adoption in conformity with IFRS 1. The following reconciliations provide the quantification of the 
effects and impact in the stockholders’ equity as of the transition date which was January 1, 2011 and also December 31, 2011 and in 
the comprehensive income for the transition year which ended on December 31, 2011.

a. Stockholder’s equity reconciliation:

2011
January 1,

2011

Total Stockholder´s equity under MFRS $ 12,002,808 $ 1,758,418
Adjustment to labor liability c 10,253 9,096
Deferred ISR in balance sheet d 11,184 11,185
Cancellation of deferred profit sharing in balance sheet f (339,981) (339,981)
Embedded derivative in accounts receivable g (13,502) (13,502)
Adjustment to inventory due to change in accounting policy a (5,769) (5,769)
Adjustment in depreciation due to changes in useful lives e (124,813) (32,528)
Translation effect 92,427 -
Cancellation of deferred profit sharing in comprehensive income f (16,318) (30,743)
Cancellation of deferred profit sharing in financial instruments f 468,481 -
Deferred ISR in comprehensive income d (1,994) -
Actuarial gains for labor obligations c 123 -
Translation effects  1,210,808 (151,083)

Total stockholders ‘equity under IFRS $ 13,293,707 $ 1,205,093
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g. Certain contracts related to the sale of concentrates and dore, consider subsequent adjustments related to the future prices 
which are known after the delivery of the product and also adjustments related to the metal content in the concentrates. 
revenue is recognized at the moment in which the risks and benefits are transferred using an estimated price and the best 
estimate of the metal content based on metallurgical analysis. the risk in price is considered as an embedded derivative, as 
such, it is not considered within the sale contract in accordance to IaS 39 Financial Instruments: recognition and measurement. 
estimated price of metal is re measured at each reporting date in accordance to the sale price for the period as stated in the 
contract. the estimated price can be determined based on the metal prices in the international markets such as the london 
Metal exchange (lMe) or the new york Mercantile exchange and Commodity exchange, Inc (CoMex). the re-measurement of the 
prices and the subsequent adjustment related to the estimated metal content are recognized in the sales within the statement 
of comprehensive income once the metallurgical analysis has being concluded, the contract conditions have been met and the 
payments terms has been agreed. 

h. In accordance with IaS 23, Borrowing Costs, interest paid could be capitalized in qualified assets. Capitalization should be 
recognized as a net of the interest gains generated for the excess in invested funds even when such interest were not used in 
such qualified assets. however, IFrS 1 states that as an optional exemption the recognition should not be retrospective.

29. new accounting principles

IaSB has issued a new IFrS series and amendments to IaS which will be effective on January 1, 2013:

- IFrS 9, Financial instruments
- IFrS 10, Consolidated financial statements
- IFrS 11, Joint arrangements
- IFrS 12, Disclosure of interest in other entities.
- IFrS 13, Fair value measurement
- amended IFrS 7, Financial instruments disclosure
- amended IFrS 9 and IFrS 7, Effective date IFRS 9 and transition disclosures
- amended IFrS 10, IFrS 11 and IFrS 12, Consolidated financial statements, Joint arrangements and Disclosure of interest in 

other entities: Transition guides
- IaS 19 (revised in 2011), Employee benefits
- IaS 27, Consolidated and separate financial statements.
- IaS 28, Investments in associates and joint ventures

- amended IaS 32, Financial instruments, presentation.

entity expects above IFrS will be adopted in the consolidated financial statements during the next period which starts on January 1, 
2013. entity is analyzing the application of these new IFrS and estimates there won´t be impact in the consolidated financial statements.

30. authorization to issue the financial statements

on april 4, 2013, the issuance of the accompanying consolidated financial statements was authorized by  C. p. C. Quintín Botas hernández 
Finance director of the entity. Consequently, they do not reflect events that occurred after such date. these consolidated financial 
statements are subject to the approval of the Company’s general ordinary stockholders’ meeting, where they may be modified, based on 
provisions set forth in the Mexican General Corporate law.

bolsa mexicana de Valores
the shares Series a-1 of Minera Frisco, S.a.B de C.V. are
listed in the Mexican Stock exchange under the ticker
symbol “MFrISCo”.

otc market
adr’s level 1
Symbol: MSnFy 2:1
Cusip: 60283e101

depositary bank
Bny Mellon
Shareowner Services
p.o. Box 358516
pittsburgh, pa 15252-8516
tel. 1-888-Bny-adrS (1-888-269-2377)
shrrelations@bnymellon.com
www.bnymellon.com/shareowner

inVerstor relations
Carla Flores Sffair
carlaf@grupofrisco.com.mx

www.minerafrisco.com

inVestor information

5.20 trees preserved

1,892.16 gallons of water saved

898.48 lb of greenhouse gases reduced and/or offset

3.62 million Btu’s energy not consumed

this report was printed on earthaware paper, FSC® certified, 
elemental chlorine and acid-free

all efforts are important, and although the press run of this annual report is 
relatively small, we reiterate our commitment to the environment by using 
environmentally-safe materials.the following are savings resulting from the 
use of recycled fiber in this project.
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